VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

VAIDOTAS CHARACIEJUS

ASYMPTOTIC BEHAVIOUR OF LONG MEMORY FUNCTIONAL LINEAR PROCESSES

Doctoral dissertation Physical sciences, mathematics (01 P)

Vilnius, 2015

The research was carried out at Vilnius University (Lithuania) during 2010–2014.

Supervisor:

prof. habil. dr. Alfredas Račkauskas (Vilnius University, physical sciences, mathematics – 01 P).

VILNIAUS UNIVERSITETAS

VAIDOTAS CHARACIEJUS

RIBINIS ILGOSIOS ATMINTIES FUNKCINIŲ TIESINIŲ PROCESŲ ELGESYS

Daktaro disertacija Fiziniai mokslai, matematika (01 P)

Vilnius, 2015

Disertacija rengta 2010–2014 metais Vilniaus universitete.

Mokslinis vadovas:

prof. habil. dr. Alfredas Račkauskas (Vilniaus universitetas, fiziniai mokslai, matematika – 01 P).

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Alfredas Račkauskas. He was very helpful, always found time to guide my research and thoroughly explain various mathematical concepts. It has been a real privilege and a great experience to learn mathematics from my supervisor and to solve mathematical problems together with him.

I am also very grateful to Virmantas Kvedaras who was my supervisor during my undergraduate studies of economics and inspired me to study econometrics and statistics in general.

I would like to thank Vygantas Paulauskas, Kęstutis Kubilius, Rimas Norvaiša and Remigijus Leipus for their constructive feedback that greatly helped me to improve the quality of my thesis.

It was always a pleasure to discuss various matters with my fellow PhD students Jurgita Markevičiūtė and Tomas Juškevičius. I also would like to thank Danutė Jonutienė who was always very helpful with formal issues.

I would like to acknowledge the financial support for my research of the Research Council of Lithuania.

Last, but definitely not least, I wish to sincerely thank my family and especially my wife Gabrielė for their support, encouragement, help and advice.

Contents

1	1 Introduction			
2	Bac	kground	13	
	2.1	Linear processes	13	
	2.2	Asymptotic behaviour of linear processes	13	
		2.2.1 Central limit theorem	14	
		2.2.2 Functional central limit theorem	17	
		2.2.3 Law of large numbers	22	
	2.3	Memory	25	
	2.4	Self-similarity	28	
3	Cen	tral limit theorem and functional central limit theorem	31	
	3.1	Preliminaries	31	
		3.1.1 Construction of linear processes	31	
		3.1.2 Asymptotic behaviour of cross-covariances	38	
		3.1.3 Operator self-similar process	44	
		3.1.4 Main tools	46	
	3.2	Central limit theorem	49	
	3.3	Functional central limit theorem	54	
4	Law	v of large numbers	67	
	4.1	Examples	69	
	4.2	Preliminaries	73	
		4.2.1 Moments of random elements	73	
		4.2.2 Convergence of the series of random elements	74	
		4.2.3 Symmetrization	78	
		4.2.4 Auxiliary lemmas	79	
	4.3	Proofs	82	

Bi	Bibliography				
5	5 Conclusions				
	4.3.2	Non-summable linear filter	89		
	4.3.1	Summable linear filter	82		

1 Introduction

Suppose that $\{X_k\} = \{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is a linear process with values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} , i.e. $\{X_k\}$ is a sequence of \mathbb{H} -valued random elements such that

$$X_k = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(\varepsilon_{k-j})$$

for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $\{a_j\} = \{a_j : j \ge 0\} \subset L(\mathbb{H})$ are bounded linear operators from \mathbb{H} to \mathbb{H} and $\{\varepsilon_k\} = \{\varepsilon_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and identically distributed \mathbb{H} -valued random elements. The interesting question is whether the asymptotic behaviour of the linear process $\{X_k\}$ differs from the asymptotic behaviour of independent and identically distributed random elements.

By asymptotic behaviour we mean the convergence in some sense of the normalised partial sums and the normalised random polygonal lines. The partial sums $\{S_n\} = \{S_n : n \ge 1\}$ are defined by

$$S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n X_k$$

for each $n \ge 1$ and the random polygonal lines $\{\zeta_n\} = \{\zeta_n : n \ge 1\} = \{\zeta_n(t) : t \in [0,1]\}_{n\ge 1}$ are defined by

$$\zeta_n(t) = S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor} + \{nt\}X_{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1}$$

for each $n \ge 1$ and each $t \in [0,1]$, where $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$ is the floor function given by $\lfloor x \rfloor = \max\{m \in \mathbb{Z} \mid m \le x\}$ for each $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\{x\} = x - \lfloor x \rfloor$ is the fractional part of $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

The asymptotic behaviour of the linear process $\{X_k\}$ depends on the convergence of the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\|,\tag{1.1}$$

where $\|\cdot\|$ is the operator norm. If series (1.1) converges, then the asymptotic behaviour of linear processes is essentially the same as that of independent and

identically distributed random elements. For example, suppose that series (1.1) converges, $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $E ||\varepsilon_0||^2 < \infty$, where $|| \cdot ||$ is the norm of the space \mathbb{H} . Then $n^{-1/2} \sum_{k=1}^n X_k$ converges in distribution to an \mathbb{H} -valued Gaussian random element with zero mean (see Merlevède, Peligrad, and Utev [42], Račkauskas and Suquet [47]). However, if series (1.1) fails to converge, the asymptotic behaviour of the linear process $\{X_k\}$ might be different than that of independent and identically distributed random elements (see Louhichi and Soulier [37], Račkauskas and Suquet [48], Characiejus and Račkauskas [6, 7]).

The main objective of this thesis is to investigate the asymptotic behaviour of the linear process $\{X_k\}$ when the series of the operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ diverges, i.e.

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\| = \infty.$$

We establish sufficient conditions for the central limit theorem and the functional central limit theorem for a particular linear process and the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type weak and strong laws of large numbers for a general linear process.

Central limit theorem and functional central limit theorem

Let $(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{S}, \mu)$ be a σ -finite measure space and $L_2(\mu) = L_2(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{S}, \mu)$ be the real separable Hilbert space of equivalence classes of μ -almost everywhere equal squareintegrable functions. In Chapter 3, we study an $L_2(\mu)$ -valued linear process $\{X_k\}$ with the operators $\{a_j\}$ given by

$$a_j = (j+1)^{-D}$$

for each $j \geq 0$, where $D : L_2(\mu) \to L_2(\mu)$ is a multiplication operator such that $Df = \{d(s)f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for each $f \in L_2(\mu)$ with a measurable function $d : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\{\varepsilon_j\}$ are independent and identically distributed $L_2(\mu)$ -valued random elements with $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and either $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 < \infty$ or $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p < \infty$ for some p > 2. This linear process could serve as a model of a sequence of random functions with space varying memory and such models might be interesting in functional data analysis.

We establish sufficient conditions for the central limit theorem and the functional central limit theorem in the two cases: either 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in S$

(Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.5) or d(s) = 1 for each $s \in S$ (Theorem 3.3 and Theorem 3.6). The novelty of our results is that the normalising sequence when 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in S$ is a sequence of operators $\{n^{-H}\} = \{n^{-H} : n \ge 1\}$, where $H : L_2(\mu) \to L_2(\mu)$ is a multiplication operator given by

$$Hf = \{ [3/2 - d(s)]f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S} \}$$

for each $f \in L_2(\mu)$. The Gaussian process obtained in the functional central limit theorem when 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in S$ generates an operator self-similar process.

Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type laws of large numbers

In Chapter 4 we investigate an \mathbb{H} -valued linear process $\{X_k\}$, where $\{\varepsilon_j\}$ are independent and identically distributed \mathbb{H} -valued random elements with $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and either $\lim_{x\to\infty} x^p \Pr\{||\varepsilon_0|| > x\} = 0$, $\mathrm{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^p < \infty$ or $\mathrm{E}[||\varepsilon_0||^p \log(1 + ||\varepsilon_0||)] < \infty$ for some 1 . We establish sufficient conditions for the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type weak law of large numbers (Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 4.3) andthe Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type strong law of large numbers (Theorem 4.2 and $Theorem 4.4). When the series <math>\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||$ converges, we show that the linear process $\{X_k\}$ inherits the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type laws of large numbers with the same normalising sequence $\{n^{1/p}\} = \{n^{1/p} : n \ge 1\}$ from the random elements $\{\varepsilon_k\}$. However, if the series $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||$ diverges, the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type laws of large numbers hold with a different normalisation as we illustrate with an example in Section 4.1. We generalize the results of Louhichi and Soulier [37] in the sense that we do not assume that the distributions of $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are α -stable.

The rest of the thesis is divided into four chapters. The purpose of Chapter 2 is to present known results about the asymptotic behaviour of linear processes and give some background on the notions of long memory and self-similarity. The central limit theorem and the functional central limit theorem is investigated in Chapter 3. In Chapter 4 we study the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type laws of large numbers. Finally, we give conclusions in Chapter 5.

2 Background

2.1 Linear processes

Let \mathbb{E} be a separable Banach space and $L(\mathbb{E})$ be the space of bounded linear operators from \mathbb{E} to \mathbb{E} .

Definition 2.1. A *linear process* is a sequence $\{X_k\} = \{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of \mathbb{E} -valued random elements given by

$$X_k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_j(\varepsilon_{k-j})$$

for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $\{a_j\} = \{a_j : j \ge 0\} \subset L(\mathbb{H})$ is a sequence of bounded linear operators and $\{\varepsilon_k\} = \{\varepsilon_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is a sequence of independent and identically distributed \mathbb{H} -valued random elements.

We only investigate linear processes with independent and identically distributed random elements $\{\varepsilon_k\}$. We review some results about linear processes with values in a separable Banach space \mathbb{E} , but the linear processes that we investigate have values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} .

2.2 Asymptotic behaviour of linear processes

Our target in this section is to review some known results about asymptotic behaviour of linear processes. We are interested in the convergence in distribution, almost surely and in probability of the normalised partial sums

$$b_n^{-1}S_n \tag{2.1}$$

and the convergence in distribution of the normalised random polygonal functions

$$b_n^{-1}\zeta_n,\tag{2.2}$$

where $\{b_n\} = \{b_n : n \ge 1\}$ is a normalising sequence.

2.2.1 Central limit theorem

Real linear processes

Consider a real linear process $\{X_k\}$ with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 < \infty$, $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Denote $\sigma^2 = \mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0^2$. Intuitively, we might expect sequence (2.1) to converge in distribution to a normally distributed random variable with the normalising sequence $\{b_n\}$ given by $b_n^2 = \mathbf{E} |S_n|^2$ for each $n \ge 1$. It is indeed the case, as the following theorem shows (see Theorem 18.6.5 of Ibragimov and Linnik [27] for the proof of Theorem 2.1).

Theorem 2.1. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 < \infty$, $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. If $\mathrm{E} |S_n|^2 \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$, then

$$\frac{S_n}{\sqrt{\mathbf{E}\,|S_n|^2}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0,1) \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$

However, it is not possible to establish the asymptotic behaviour of $E |S_n|^2$ without any additional assumptions on the sequence $\{a_j\}$.

The asymptotic behaviour of $E |S_n|^2$ depends on the convergence of the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|. \tag{2.3}$$

If series (2.3) converges and the series

$$A = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j \tag{2.4}$$

converges to a non-zero limit, then $E |S_n|^2$ grows linearly.

Proposition 2.1. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| < \infty$, $A \neq 0$, $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then

$$\mathbf{E} S_n^2 \sim \sigma^2 A^2 \cdot n \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$

Proof. Using the stationarity of $\{X_k\}$,

$$E S_n^2 = n \left[E X_0^2 + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) E[X_0 X_k] \right]$$

$$= n\sigma^2 \bigg[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j a_{j+k} \bigg].$$

We have that

$$A^{2} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_{j}^{2} + 2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_{j}a_{j+k}$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j a_{j+k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j a_{j+k}$$

since any convergent series is Cesàro summable, and the sum of the series agrees with its Cesàro sum. The proof is complete. $\hfill \Box$

If series (2.3) converges and series (2.4) converges to a non-zero limit, then sequence (2.1) converges in distribution to a normally distributed random variable with the normalising sequence $\{b_n\}$ given by $b_n = \sqrt{n}$ for each $n \ge 1$ (see also Theorem 3.11 of Phillips and Solo [46] and Theorem 4.5 of Beran, Ghosh, Feng, and Kulik [2].).

Corollary 2.1. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| < \infty$, $A \neq 0$, $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{\sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma^2 A^2) \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$

If series (2.3) diverges, then $E S_n^2$ might even grow faster than linearly. A simple example would be $\{a_j\}$ given by

$$a_j = (j+1)^{-\varphi} \tag{2.5}$$

for each $j \ge 0$ with $1/2 < \varphi < 1$.

Proposition 2.2. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by (2.5), $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then

$$\operatorname{E} S_n^2 \sim \frac{\sigma^2 c(\varphi)}{(1-\varphi)(3-2\varphi)} \cdot n^{3-2\varphi} \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where

$$c(\varphi) = \int_0^\infty [x(x+1)]^{-\varphi} \mathrm{d}x.$$
(2.6)

See Giraitis, Koul, and Surgailis [19] for the proof of Proposition 2.2.

If $\{a_j\}$ is given by (2.5), then sequence (2.1) converges to a normally distributed random variable with the normalisation $\{b_n\}$ given by $b_n = n^{3/2-\varphi}$ for each $n \ge 1$. **Corollary 2.2.** Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by (2.5), $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{3/2-\varphi}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0, v) \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where v is given by

$$v = \frac{\sigma^2 c(\varphi)}{(1-\varphi)(3-2\varphi)}$$

with $c(\varphi)$ given by (2.6).

Linear processes with values in abstract spaces

Let us recall the definition of a Gaussian random element with values in a real separable Banach space \mathbb{E} . \mathbb{E}^* denotes the topological dual space of \mathbb{E} . For details about Gaussian random elements with values in Banach spaces, see Ledoux and Talagrand [35].

Definition 2.2. An \mathbb{E} -valued random element X is *Gaussian* if the real random variable f(X) is Gaussian for each $f \in \mathbb{E}^*$.

Consider a linear process $\{X_k\}$ with values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} , $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 < \infty$, where $\|\cdot\|$ is the norm of the Hilbert space \mathbb{H} . It seems that there is no simple generalisation of Theorem 2.1 for linear processes with values in abstract spaces. Merlevède et al. [42] show that, without any additional assumptions on the operators $\{a_j\}$ or on the covariance operator of ε_0 , the tightness of both $\{S_n/\sqrt{n} : n \ge 1\}$ and $\{S_n/\sqrt{\mathbb{E} \|S_n\|^2} : n \ge 1\}$ may fail and no analogue of Theorem 2.1 is possible.

However, if we assume that the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\| \tag{2.7}$$

converges, essentially an analogue of Corollary 2.1 is true (see Merlevède et al. [42] for the proof of Theorem 2.2).

Theorem 2.2. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is an \mathbb{H} -valued linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j|| < \infty$, $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathrm{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^2 < \infty$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{\sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0, AC_{\varepsilon_0}A^*) \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where \mathcal{N} is an \mathbb{H} -valued Gaussian random element, C_{ε_0} denotes the covariance operator of ε_0 , $A = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ and A^* is the adjoint operator of A.

Račkauskas and Suquet [47] extend the result of Merlevède et al. [42] to linear processes with values in a separable Banach space \mathbb{E} . They establish that the linear process inherits its asymptotic behaviour from $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ if series (2.7) converges.

Theorem 2.3. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is an \mathbb{E} -valued linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j|| < \infty$. If

$$\frac{\varepsilon_1 + \ldots + \varepsilon_n}{\sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0, C_{\varepsilon_0}) \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

then

$$\frac{S_n}{\sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0, AC_{\varepsilon_0}A^*) \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where \mathcal{N} is an \mathbb{E} -valued Gaussian random element, C_{ε_0} denotes the covariance operator of ε_0 , $A = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ and A^* is the adjoint operator of A.

Remark 2.1. If $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are independent and identically distributed random elements with values in the separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} , then $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 < \infty$ implies that $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ satisfies the central limit theorem in \mathbb{H} . However, in some separable Banach spaces no integrability condition ensures that $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ satisfies the central limit theorem. For this reason, the assumptions of Theorem 2.2 and Theorem 2.3 are different (for more details, see Ledoux and Talagrand [35]).

In Chapter 3 we investigate the central limit theorem for a functional linear process with values in a particular Hilbert space when series (2.7) diverges. The case we investigate shows that the normalizing sequence might be a sequence of operators when series (2.7) diverges.

2.2.2 Functional central limit theorem

Real linear process

Consider a real linear process $\{X_k\}$ with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 < \infty$, $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $0 < \mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. As in the case of the central limit theorem, the asymptotic behaviour of sequence (2.2) depends on the convergence of the series (2.3). Depending on the

asymptotic behaviour of the variance of the partial sums, the limit can be the Wiener process or the fractional Brownian motion.

Let us recall the definitions of the Wiener process and the fractional Brownian motion.

Definition 2.3. The Wiener process $\{W(t) : t \ge 0\}$ is a real-valued Gaussian random process such that

- (i) EW(t) = 0 for each $t \ge 0$;
- (ii) $E[W(s)W(t)] = \min\{s, t\}$ for $s \ge 0$ and $t \ge 0$;
- (iii) $\Pr\{W \in C[0,\infty)\} = 1.$

Definition 2.4. The fractional Brownian motion $\{B_H(t) : t \ge 0\}$ with the selfsimilarity parameter $H \in (0, 1)$ (or the Hurst parameter) is a real-valued Gaussian process such that

(i) $E B_H(t) = 0$ for each $t \ge 0$;

(ii)
$$E[B_H(s)B_H(t)] = \frac{1}{2}(|s|^{2H} + |t|^{2H} - |s - t|^{2H})$$
 for $s \ge 0$ and $t \ge 0$;

(iii)
$$\Pr\{B_H \in C[0,\infty)\} = 1.$$

Although the fractional Brownian motion was introduced by Kolmogorov [30], it was Mandelbrot and Van Ness [39] who recognized the relevance of this random process and gave this process the name by which it is known today. Let us observe that the fractional Brownian motion with H = 1/2 is the Wiener process. See Chapter 6 of Resnick [50] for more details about the Wiener process and see Chapter 3 of Beran et al. [2] or Chapter 7 of Samorodnitsky and Taqqu [53] for more details about the fractional Brownian.

We begin with the case when series (2.3) converges and the series A given by (2.4) converges to a non-zero limit (see Wang, Lin, and Gulati [57] or Merlevède, Peligrad, and Utev [43] for the proof of Theorem 2.4).

Theorem 2.4. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| < \infty$, $A \neq 0$, $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then

$$b_n^{-1}\zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} W$$

in C[0,1] as $n \to \infty$ with $\{b_n\}$ given by

$$b_n = A \cdot \sqrt{n}$$

As we have already seen in Proposition 2.2, if series (2.3) diverges, the variance of the partial sums can grow faster than linearly. This changes not only the normalizing sequence $\{b_n\}$, but also the limit of sequence (2.2). The following result was first proven by Davydov [13] under the assumption of $E \varepsilon_0^{2k} < \infty$ for $k \geq 2$. It is possible to prove the following result under the assumption of $E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$ (see Theorem 4.6 of Beran et al. [2] or Theorem 1 of Konstantopoulos and Sakhanenko [31] for the proof of Theorem 2.5).

Theorem 2.5. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a real linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by (2.5), $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then

$$b_n^{-1}\zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} B_{3/2-\varphi}$$

in C[0,1] as $n \to \infty$ with

$$b_n^2 = \frac{\sigma^2 c(\varphi)}{(1-\varphi)(3-2\varphi)} \cdot n^{3-2\varphi},$$

where $c(\varphi)$ is given by (2.6) and $B_{3/2-\varphi}$ is the fractional Brownian motion with the self-similarity parameter equal to $3/2 - \varphi$.

Linear processes with values in abstract spaces

Before we review the functional central limit theorems for linear processes with values in abstract spaces, we need to introduce more general definitions of a Gaussian random process and the Wiener process.

Definition 2.5. An \mathbb{E} -valued random process $\{\xi(t) : t \in T\}$, indexed by some set T, is Gaussian if

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \xi(t_i)$$

is an \mathbb{E} -valued Gaussian random element for any $n \geq 1, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in T$.

For details about Gaussian random processes with values in Banach spaces, see Ledoux and Talagrand [35]. **Definition 2.6.** An \mathbb{E} -valued Wiener process $\{W_Q(t) : t \geq 0\}$ is an \mathbb{E} -valued centred Gaussian random process with independent increments such that $W_Q(t) - W_Q(s)$ has the same distribution as $|t - s|^{1/2}G$ for $t > s \geq 0$, where G is an \mathbb{E} -valued centred Gaussian random element with the covariance operator Q.

See Van Thu [55] for alternative definitions of an E-valued Wiener process.

Račkauskas and Suquet [47] prove that the \mathbb{E} -valued linear process inherits its asymptotic behaviour from $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ if series (2.7) converges.

Theorem 2.6. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is an \mathbb{E} -valued linear process with $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j|| < \infty$ and

$$\frac{\varepsilon_1 + \ldots + \varepsilon_n}{\sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{N}(0, C_{\varepsilon_0}) \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$

Then

$$\frac{\zeta_n}{\sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} W_{AC_{\varepsilon_0}A^*}$$

in $C([0,1];\mathbb{E})$ as $n \to \infty$, where $W_{AC_{\varepsilon_0}A^*}$ is an \mathbb{E} -valued Wiener process, C_{ε_0} denotes the covariance operator of ε_0 , $A = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ and A^* is the adjoint operator of A.

Duncan, Pasik-Duncan, and Maslowski [15] generalize the definition the fractional Brownian motion. They establish the existence of the fractional Brownian motion with values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} . Suppose that $Q \in L(\mathbb{H})$ is a non-negative, self-adjoint and trace class operator. Let Cov[X, Y] denote the covariance operator of two \mathbb{H} -valued random elements X and Y. Duncan et al. [15] give the following definition of the fractional Q-Brownian motion.

Definition 2.7. The \mathbb{H} -valued fractional Q-Brownian motion $\{B_{H,Q}(t) : t \geq 0\}$ with the Hurst parameter 1/2 < H < 1 is an \mathbb{H} -valued Gaussian random process such that

(i) $E B_{H,Q}(t) = 0$ for each $t \ge 0$;

(ii) Cov
$$[B_{H,Q}(s), B_{H,Q}(t)] = 2^{-1}(|s|^{2H} + |t|^{2H} - |s - t|^{2H})Q$$
 for all $0 \le s < t$;

(iii)
$$\Pr\{B_{H,Q} \in C([0,\infty);\mathbb{H})\} = 1.$$

Račkauskas and Suquet [47] define the \mathbb{H} -valued fractional Brownian motion with the Hurst parameter $H \in L(\mathbb{H})$. Let $H \in L(\mathbb{H})$ and $Q \in L(\mathbb{H})$ be non-negative operators and suppose that Q is trace class.

Definition 2.8. The \mathbb{H} -valued operator fractional Q-Brownian motion with the Hurst parameter H is an \mathbb{H} -valued Gaussian random process such that

(i)
$$E B_{H,Q}(t) = 0$$
 for each $t \ge 0$;

(ii)
$$\operatorname{Cov}[B_{H,Q}(s), B_{H,Q}(t)] = 2^{-1}(|s|^{2H} + |t|^{2H} - |s - t|^{2H})Q$$
 for all $s \ge 0$ and $t \ge 0$.

Račkauskas and Suquet [48] prove the existence of an \mathbb{H} -valued operator fractional Q-Brownian motion only under additional assumptions on the operators H and Q (they assume that H is a self-adjoint operator such that $\frac{1}{2}I < H < I$ and the operator H commutes with the operator Q). They also establish that the \mathbb{H} -valued operator fractional Q-Brownian motion has a continuous version.

Consider an \mathbb{H} -valued linear process $\{X_k\}$ with $\{a_j\}$ given by

$$a_0 = I, \qquad a_j = j^{-T} \quad \text{for} \quad j \ge 1,$$
 (2.8)

where $T \in L(\mathbb{H})$ satisfies 1/2I < T < I, $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^2 < \infty$. Let Q be a covariance operator of ε_0 . Assume that T commutes with Q. Račkauskas and Suquet [48] show that the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\| = \infty$$

and sequence (2.2) converges in distribution to an \mathbb{H} -valued operator fractional Q-Brownian motion with the Hurst parameter H = 3/2I - T.

Theorem 2.7. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is an \mathbb{H} -valued linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by (2.8), $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$, $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 < \infty$ and the covariance operator Q commutes with T. Then

$$c(T)n^{-H}\zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} B_{H,Q}$$

in $C([0,1];\mathbb{H})$ as $n \to \infty$, where $B_{H,Q}$ is an operator fractional Q-Brownian motion with the operator Hurst parameter H = 3/2I - T and bounded linear operator c(T).

See Račkauskas and Suquet [48] for the expression of the operator c(T).

In Chapter 3 we investigate the case when the series of operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ diverges and T not necessarily commutes with Q. When T does not commute with Q, the random polygonal lines converge in distribution to a different Gaussian process than the operator fractional Q-Brownian motion.

2.2.3 Law of large numbers

The law of large numbers is a well-know result in the probability theory, but we state both the strong and weak law of large numbers here in order to emphasize different assumptions of the weak and the strong law of large numbers.

Theorem 2.8 (Weak law of large numbers). Suppose that $\{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ are independent and identically distributed random variables and set $S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k$. There exists a real sequence $\{\mu_n : n \ge 1\}$ such that

$$\frac{S_n}{n} - \mu_n \to 0 \tag{2.9}$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ if and only if $x \Pr\{|\xi_0| > x\} \to 0$ as $x \to \infty$. In this case (2.9) holds with $\mu_n = \mathbb{E}[\xi_0 I_{\{|\xi_0| \le n\}}].$

See Feller [17] and Resnick [51] for the proof of Theorem 2.8.

Theorem 2.9 (Strong law of large numbers). Suppose that $\{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ are independent and identically distributed random variables and set $S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k$. There exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\frac{S_n}{n} \to c$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$ if and only if $E|\xi_0| < \infty$ in which case $c = E\xi_0$.

See Resnick [51] for the proof of Theorem 2.9.

Phillips and Solo [46] established the strong law of large numbers for real linear processes. They proved the following two theorems.

Theorem 2.10. Suppose that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |ja_j|^2 < \infty,$$

 $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are independent and identically distributed with $E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$ and zero means. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 2.11. Suppose that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j|a_j| < \infty,$$

 $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are independent and identically distributed with $E |\varepsilon_0| < \infty$ and zero mean. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$.

There are generalizations of both the weak law of large numbers and the strong law of large numbers.

Theorem 2.12 (Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type weak law of large numbers). Suppose that $\{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ are independent and identically distributed random variables and set $S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k$. Fix any $p \in (0, 2)$ and $c \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{1/p}} \to c$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ if and only if the following conditions hold as $r \to \infty$, depending on the value of p:

$$p < 1: r^{p} \Pr\{|\xi_{1}| > r\} \to 0 \text{ and } c = 0;$$

$$p = 1: r \Pr\{|\xi_{1}| > r\} \to 0 \text{ and } \mathbb{E}[\xi_{1}I_{\{|\xi_{1}| \le r\}}] \to c;$$

$$p > 1: r^{p} \Pr\{|\xi_{1}| > r\} \to 0 \text{ and } \mathbb{E}[\xi_{1} = c] = 0.$$

Theorem 2.13 (Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund strong law of large numbers). Suppose that $\{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ are independent and identically distributed random variables and set $S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k$. Fix any $p \in (0, 2)$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{1/p}}$$

converges almost surely as $n \to \infty$ if and only if $E |\xi_1|^p < \infty$ and either $p \le 1$ or $E \xi_1 = 0$. In that case the limit equals $E \xi_1$ for p = 1 and is otherwise 0.

See Kallenberg [29] for the proofs of Theorem 2.12 and Theorem 2.13.

Louhichi and Soulier [37] investigate the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type strong law of large numbers for real linear processes when the series $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|$ not necessarily converges. Suppose that $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are independent and identically distributed symmetric α -stable variables with $1 < \alpha < 2$ or uncorrelated with finite variance. The latter case is referred to as the case $\alpha = 2$ for convenience. Let $\{a_j\}$ be a sequence of real numbers such that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^{\alpha} < \infty$. Louhichi and Soulier [37] prove the following theorem.

Theorem 2.14. Assume that there exists a real $s \in [1, \alpha)$ such that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^s < \infty$. Then for all p such that $1/p > 1 - 1/s + 1/\alpha$,

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{1/p}} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$.

In Chapter 4 we investigate the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type weak and strong laws of large numbers for general linear processes with values the space \mathbb{H} . We make assumptions of $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and either $\lim_{x\to\infty} x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > x\} = 0$, $\mathrm{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p < \infty$ or $\mathrm{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^p \log(1 + \|\varepsilon_0\|)] < \infty$ for some 1 . So we generalize Theo $rem 2.14 in the sense that we do not assume that the distributions of <math>\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are α -stable.

The following two theorems are generalizations of the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type laws of large numbers to separable Hilbert spaces.

Theorem 2.15. Let $1 \le p < 2$. Suppose that $\{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ are independent and identically distributed symmetric random elements with values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} . Then

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_k}{n^{1/p}} \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ if and only if $\lim_{x\to\infty} x^p \Pr\{\|\xi_0\| > x\} = 0$.

Theorem 2.16. Let $0 . Suppose that <math>\{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ are independent and identically distributed random elements with values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} . Then

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_k}{n^{1/p}} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$ if and only if $\mathbb{E} \|\xi_1\|^p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{E} \xi_1 = 0$ if $p \ge 1$.

See Ledoux and Talagrand [35] for the proofs of Theorem 2.15 and Theorem 2.16.

2.3 Memory

There is evidence that long memory processes occur quite frequently in various fields, such as finance, econometrics, internet modeling, hydrology, climates studies, linguistics, DNA sequencing (we refer to Samorodnitsky [52] for a review of the notion of long memory; for probabilistic foundations, statistical methods, and applications, see Giraitis et al. [19], Beran [1] and Palma [45]).

There are many definitions of the memory of a random process and, unfortunately, the definitions are not equivalent (Guégan [21] mentions 11 different definitions). We restrict our attention to stationary and strictly stationary sequences of random variables.

Definition 2.9. A sequence $\{X_k\} = \{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of random variables is *station-ary* if

- (i) $\operatorname{E} X_k^2 < \infty$ for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$;
- (ii) $E X_k = m$ for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $m \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (iii) $\operatorname{Cov}[X_r, X_s] = \operatorname{Cov}[X_{r+t}, X_{s+t}]$ for all $r, s, t \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Remark 2.2. If $\{X_k\}$ is stationary, then $\operatorname{Cov}[X_r, X_s] = \operatorname{Cov}[X_0 X_{s-r}]$ for all $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}$ and it makes sense to investigate $\operatorname{Cov}[X_0 X_h]$ for $h \ge 0$ instead of $\operatorname{Cov}[X_r, X_s]$ for $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Definition 2.10. A sequence of random variables $\{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is said to be strictly stationary if the joint distributions of $(X_{t_1}, \ldots, X_{t_k})$ and $(X_{t_1+h}, \ldots, X_{t_k} + h)$ are the same for all $k \geq 1$ and for all $t_1, \ldots, t_k, h \in \mathbb{Z}$.

If we are considering stationary sequences of random variables, we can define the memory of a random process in terms of the asymptotic behaviour of the sequence of covariances.

Definition 2.11. A stationary sequence of random variables $\{X_k\}$ has *long memory* if the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |\operatorname{Cov}[X_0 X_j]| \tag{2.10}$$

diverges. If series (2.10) converges, then the sequence $\{X_k\}$ has short memory.

Clearly, a sequence of independent and identically distributed random variables has short memory. An example of a sequence of random variables that has long memory is not straightforward. Two well-known examples are the fractional Gaussian noise and the fractional ARIMA process.

Definition 2.12. The fractional Gaussian noise is a sequence $\{\xi_k\} = \{\xi_k : k \ge 0\}$ of the increments of the fractional Brownian motion $\{B_H(t) : t \ge 0\}$ given by

$$\xi_k = B_H(k) - B_H(k-1)$$

for $k \ge 0$, where $H \in (0, 1)$ is the self-similarity parameter.

The fractional Gaussian noise has the following properties:

(i) $\operatorname{Corr}[\xi_{j+h}, \xi_j] \sim H(2H-1)h^{-2(1-H)}$ as $h \to \infty$ for $H \in (0,1)$ and $H \neq 1/2$;

(ii)
$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_{k}\right] = \operatorname{E}[B_{H}^{2}(1)] \cdot n^{2H}$$
 for $H \in (0, 1)$.

If 1/2 < H < 1, the fractional Gaussian noise has long memory.

Definition 2.13. Let $-1/2 < \psi < 1/2$. The fractional ARIMA $(0, \psi, 0)$ process with the parameter ψ is a real linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by

$$a_j = \frac{\Gamma(j+\psi)}{\Gamma(j+1)\Gamma(\psi)} = \prod_{0 < k \le j} \frac{k-1+\psi}{k}$$

for each $j \ge 0$, where Γ is the gamma function.

The fractional ARIMA($0, \psi, 0$) process was introduced independently by Granger and Joyeux [20] and Hosking [25]. We have that (see Chapter 13 of Brockwell and Davis [5])

$$\operatorname{Corr}[X_0, X_h] \sim \frac{\Gamma(1-\psi)}{\Gamma(\psi)} \cdot h^{2\psi-1} \quad \text{as} \quad h \to \infty,$$

where $\{X_k\}$ is the fractional ARIMA $(0, \psi, 0)$ process with $-1/2 < \psi < 1/2$. Thus the fractional ARIMA $(0, \psi, 0)$ with $0 < \psi < 1/2$ has long memory.

The idea behind Definition 2.11 is that the absolute summability of the autocovariances $\{Cov[X_0, X_j] : j \ge 0\}$ implies at most linear growth of the variance of the partial sums.

Proposition 2.3. Suppose that $\{X_k\}$ is a stationary sequence that has short memory. ory. Then $\operatorname{Var} S_n = O(n)$ as $n \to \infty$. Furthermore, if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \operatorname{Cov}[X_0, X_k] \neq -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Var} X_0,$$

then $\operatorname{Var} S_n \sim c \cdot n$ as $n \to \infty$, where c is a positive constant.

Proof. . Using the stationarity of the sequence $\{X_k\}$,

$$\frac{1}{n} \operatorname{Var} S_n = \operatorname{Var} X_0 + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \operatorname{Cov}[X_0, X_k].$$

Similarly, as in the proof of Proposition 2.1, we have that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \operatorname{Cov}[X_0, X_k] = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Cov}[X_0, X_k]$$

since any convergent series is Cesàro summable, and the sum of the series agrees with its Cesàro sum. $\hfill \Box$

The following definition of the memory of a random process was proposed by Cox [10] and it is relevant to this thesis since we are investigating the functional central limit theorem.

Definition 2.14. Let $\{a_n : n \ge 1\}$ and $\{b_n : n \ge 1\}$ be real sequences such that $b_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. A strictly stationary sequence of random variables $\{\xi_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ has *long memory* if the finite-dimensional distributions of the random processes

$$\left\{b_n^{-1}\sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} (\xi_k - a_n) : t \ge 0\right\}$$

converge weakly to the finite-dimensional distributions of the random process with dependent increments. If the increments of the limit process are independent, the sequence $\{\xi_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ has *short memory*.

The long memory (short memory) defined in Definition 2.11 is sometimes called *covariance long memory* (*covariance short memory*) and the long memory defined in Definition 2.14 is sometimes called *distributional long memory* (*distributional short memory*) to make a distinction between these two definitions.

Definition 2.11 and Definition 2.14 are not equivalent. Consider, for example, a real linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by $a_j = (j+1)^{-1}$ for each $j \ge 0$, $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Then it has covariance long memory since

$$\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} |\operatorname{Cov}[X_0, X_h]| = \infty,$$

but distributional short memory since the finite-dimensional distributions of the processes

$$\left\{ (\sigma \cdot \sqrt{n} \log n)^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} X_k : t \ge 0 \right\}$$

converge weakly to the finite dimensional distributions of the Wiener process, i.e. a process with independent increments.

Louhichi and Soulier [37] proposed a definition of long memory based on the rate of convergence in the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type strong law of large numbers. **Definition 2.15.** Let $\{\xi_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ be a strictly stationary sequence of random variables with zero means and $\mathbb{E} |\xi_0|^q < \infty$ for some $q \in [1, 2]$. The sequence $\{\xi_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ has short memory if

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k}{n^{1/p}} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$ for all 0 and <math>p < 2. The sequence $\{\xi_k\}$ has *long* memory otherwise.

2.4 Self-similarity

Self-similar processes are random processes that are invariant in distribution under suitable scaling of time and space. More precisely, let $\xi = \{\xi(t) : t \ge 0\}$ be an \mathbb{R}^{q} -valued stochastic process defined on some probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) . The process ξ is said to be self-similar if for any a > 0 there exists b > 0 such that

$$\{\xi(at) : t \ge 0\} \stackrel{fdd}{=} \{b\xi(t) : t \ge 0\},\$$

where $\stackrel{fdd}{=}$ denotes the equality of the finite-dimensional distributions.

Self-similar processes were first studied rigorously by Lamperti [33]. Well-known examples are the Wiener process and the fractional Brownian motion with the self-similarity parameter 0 < H < 1 (in these cases *b* is equal to $a^{1/2}$ and a^{H} respectively). We refer to Embrechts and Maejima [16] for the current state of knowledge about self-similar processes and their applications.

Laha and Rohatgi [32] introduced *operator* self-similar processes taking values in \mathbb{R}^{q} . They extended the notion of self-similarity to allow scaling by a class of matrices. Such processes were later studied by Hudson and Mason [26], Maejima and Mason [38], Lavancier, Philippe, and Surgailis [34] and Didier and Pipiras [14] among others.

Matache and Matache [41] consider and study operator self-similar processes valued in (possibly infinite-dimensional) Banach spaces. Recall that \mathbb{E} denotes a Banach space and $L(\mathbb{E})$ is the algebra of all bounded linear operators from \mathbb{E} to \mathbb{E} . Matache and Matache [41] give the following definition.

Definition 2.16. An operator self-similar process is a random process $\xi = \{\xi(t) : t \ge 0\}$ on \mathbb{E} such that there is a family $\{T(a) : a > 0\}$ in $L(\mathbb{E})$ with the property that for each a > 0,

$$\{\xi(at) : t \ge 0\} \stackrel{fdd}{=} \{T(a)\xi(t) : t \ge 0\}.$$

The family $\{T(a) : a > 0\}$ is called the scaling family of operators. If operators $\{T(a) : a > 0\}$ have the particular form $T(a) = a^G I$, where G is some fixed scalar and I is an identity operator, then a random process is called self-similar instead of operator self-similar.

3 Central limit theorem and functional central limit theorem

In this chapter we investigate a linear process $\{X_k\} = \{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ with values in a separable Hilbert space $L_2(\mu)$ defined by

$$X_k = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(\varepsilon_{k-j}) \tag{3.1}$$

for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $\{a_j\}$ given by

$$a_j = (j+1)^{-D} (3.2)$$

for $j \geq 0$, where $D : L_2(\mu) \to L_2(\mu)$ is a multiplication operator such that $Df = \{d(s)f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for each $f \in L_2(\mu)$ and $d : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function. We assume that $\{\varepsilon_k\} = \{\varepsilon_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and identically distributed $L_2(\mu)$ -valued random elements with $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and either $\mathbb{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^2 < \infty$ or $\mathbb{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^p < \infty$ for some p > 2. We establish sufficient conditions for the central limit theorem and the functional central limit theorem for $\{X_k\}$.

3.1 Preliminaries

3.1.1 Construction of linear processes

There are two approaches to construct $\{X_k\}$ with values in $L_2(\mu)$. The first approach is to define $\{X_k\}$ as random processes with space varying memory and square μ -integrable sample paths. The second approach is to define $L_2(\mu)$ -valued linear process with $\{a_j\}$ given by (3.2) and to investigate the convergence of series (3.1). We present both of these two approaches.

First approach

Let $\{\varepsilon_k\} = \{\varepsilon_k(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be independent and identically distributed measurable random processes defined on the probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) , i.e. $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{S}$ -measurable functions $\varepsilon_k : \Omega \times \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{R}$. We require that $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0(s) = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0^2(s) < \infty$ for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and denote

$$\sigma(r,s) = \mathbf{E}[\varepsilon_0(r)\varepsilon_0(s)], \quad \sigma^2(s) = \mathbf{E}\,\varepsilon_0^2(s), \quad r, s \in \mathbb{S}.$$

Define stochastic processes $\{X_k\} = \{X_k(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ by setting

$$X_k(s) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(s)} \varepsilon_{k-j}(s)$$
(3.3)

for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. It follows from Kolmogorov's three-series theorem that d(s) > 1/2 is a necessary and sufficient condition for the almost sure convergence of series (3.3) (see Chapter 2 of Shiryaev [54] for Kolmogorov's three-series theorem).

If $E \varepsilon_0(s) \neq 0$, then the sequence $\{X_k(s)\}$ for $s \in S$ can only have short memory, since then the series (3.3) converges almost surely if and only if d(s) > 1 and absolute summability of $\{a_j\}$ implies absolute summability of the autocovariances of a linear process (see, for example, Hamilton [23], p. 70).

The sequence $\{X_k(s)\}$ for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ is essentially similar to the fractional ARIMA(0, 1 - d(s), 0) process (see Definition 2.13). $\{X_k(s)\}$ is a real linear processes

$$X_k(s) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(s)\varepsilon_{k-j}(s)$$

with the sequence $\{a_j(s)\}$ given by $a_j(s) = (j+1)^{-d(s)}$. The application of Stirling's formula to the coefficients of the fractional ARIMA(0, 1 - d(s), 0) yields the following relation:

$$\frac{\Gamma(j+1-d(s))}{\Gamma(j+1)\Gamma(1-d(s))} \sim \frac{j^{-d(s)}}{\Gamma(1-d(s))}$$

as $j \to \infty$.

It is possible to consider more general case of a linear process $\{X_k(s)\}$. For example, $a_j(s) \sim j^{-d(s)}$ as $j \to \infty$. But our aim is to investigate space varying memory and we want to avoid any unnecessary technical difficulties. The growth rate of the partial sums $\{\sum_{k=1}^{n} X_k(s)\}$ depends on d(s). Viewing S as the set of space indexes and Z as the set of time indexes, we thus have a functional process $\{X_k\}$ with space varying memory. Such sequences of random processes could serve as a model in functional data analysis (we refer to Ramsay and Silverman [49] and Horváth and Kokoszka [24] for an introduction to functional data analysis, for the theory of linear processes in function spaces, see Bosq [4] and Mas and Pumo [40]).



Figure 3.1: Simulated sample paths of the random processes $\{X_k\}$

Figure 3.1 shows simulated sample paths of the random processes of the sequence $\{X_k\}$. The sequence $\{\varepsilon_k\} = \{\varepsilon_k(t) : t \in [0,1]\}$ was assumed to be a sequence of independent and identically distributed standard Wiener processes on the interval [0,1] and the function $d: [0,1] \rightarrow (1/2, +\infty)$ was assumed to be a step function $d(t) = d_1\chi_{[0,1/2)}(t) + d_2\chi_{[1/2,1]}(t)$, where χ_A is the indicator function of A. The simulated sample paths for 5 consecutive elements of the sequence $\{X_k\}$ were plotted. The procedure was completed for two different sets of the values of d_1 and d_2 ($d_1 = 0.6, d_2 = 2$ and $d_1 = 0.6, d_2 = 0.7$).

We denote

$$\gamma_h(r,s) = \mathbb{E}[X_0(r)X_h(s)]$$
 and $\gamma_h(s) = \mathbb{E}[X_0(s)X_h(s)]$

for $r, s \in \mathbb{S}$ and $h \ge 1$. For fixed $r, s \in \mathbb{S}$, the sequences $\{X_k(r)\}\$ and $\{X_k(s)\}\$ are

stationary sequences of random variables with zero means and cross-covariance

$$\gamma_h(r,s) = \sigma(r,s) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)}$$
(3.4)

for $h \ge 0$ and $r, s \in \mathbb{S}$. Observe that $\gamma_h(r, s) \ge 0$ for each $h \ge 0$ and each $r, s \in \mathbb{S}$. Let us denote

$$c(r,s) = \int_0^\infty x^{-d(r)} (x+1)^{-d(s)} \mathrm{d}x, \qquad c(s) = c(s,s)$$
(3.5)

and

$$d(r,s) = d(r) + d(s)$$
 (3.6)

for $r, s \in \mathbb{S}$ provided that 1/2 < d(r) < 1, d(s) > 1/2. Let us observe that c(r, s) = B(1-d(r), d(r, s)-1), where B is the beta function. c(s) can be estimated from above with the following inequality

$$c(s) \le \frac{1}{1 - d(s)} + \frac{1}{2d(s) - 1}.$$
(3.7)

Proposition 3.1 gives the asymptotic behaviour of $\gamma_h(r,s)$ and Proposition 3.2 provides a necessary and sufficient condition for the summability of the series $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \gamma_k(r,s)$. The notation $a_n \sim b_n$ indicates that the ratio of the two sequences tends to 1 as $n \to \infty$.

Proposition 3.1. If 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and d(s) > 1/2, then

$$\gamma_h(r,s) \sim c(r,s)\sigma(r,s) \cdot h^{1-d(r,s)} \quad as \quad h \to \infty,$$

where c(r,s) is given by (3.5) and d(r,s) is given by (3.6). If d(r) = d(s) = 1, then

$$\gamma_h(r,s) \sim \sigma(r,s) \cdot h^{-1} \log h \quad as \quad h \to \infty.$$

Proof. We approximate series (3.4) by integrals to obtain the following inequalities: if 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and d(s) > 1/2, then we obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)} \ge h^{1-d(r,s)} \int_{\frac{1}{h}}^{\infty} x^{-d(r)} (x+1)^{-d(s)} \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (3.8)$$
$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)} \le h^{1-d(r,s)} \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{-d(r)} (x+1)^{-d(s)} \mathrm{d}x;$$

if d(r) = d(s) = 1, then we have that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} [(j+1)(j+h+1)]^{-1} \geq h^{-1} \Big[\log \Big(\frac{h+1}{2} \Big) + \int_{1}^{\infty} [y(y+1)]^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}y \Big] \\ &\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} [(j+1)(j+h+1)]^{-1} \leq (h+1)^{-1} + h^{-1} \Big[\log \Big(\frac{h+1}{2} \Big) + \int_{1}^{\infty} [y(y+1)]^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}y \Big]. \end{split}$$

The proof is complete.

Proposition 3.2. The series

$$\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \gamma_h(r,s) \tag{3.9}$$

converges if and only if d(s) > 1 and d(r, s) > 2.

Proof. Series (3.9) has the following expression

$$\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \gamma_k(r,s) = \sigma(r,s) \Big[\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} (h+1)^{-d(s)} + \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)} \Big].$$

The first series of the right-hand side of the equation above converges if and only if d(s) > 1. Thus, we only need to investigate the convergence of the series

$$\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)}.$$
(3.10)

A slight modification of inequality (3.8) shows that series (3.10) diverges if $d(r, s) \leq 2$. By choosing $\delta > 0$ such that $1 < 1 + \delta < d(s)$ and $d(r, s) - \delta > 2$, we obtain

$$\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)} = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r)} (j+h+1)^{-d(s)+(1+\delta)-(1+\delta)}$$
$$\leq \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} (h+1)^{-(1+\delta)} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-d(r,s)+(1+\delta)}$$

so that series (3.10) converges if d(s) > 1 and d(r, s) > 2.

Remark 3.1. The series $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \gamma_k(s)$ converges if and only if d(s) > 1.

Let $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu) = \mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{S}, \mu)$ be a separable space of real-valued square μ -integrable functions with a seminorm

$$||f|| = \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} |f(v)|^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}v)\right]^{1/2}, \quad f \in \mathcal{L}_2(\mu),$$

and let $L_2(\mu) = L_2(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{S}, \mu)$ be the corresponding Hilbert space of equivalence classes of μ -almost everywhere equal functions with an inner product

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{S}} f(v)g(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v), \quad f,g \in L_2(\mu).$$

With an abuse of notation, we denote by f both a function and its equivalence class to avoid cumbersome notation. The intended meaning should be clear from the context.

Proposition 3.3 establishes a necessary and sufficient condition for the sample paths of the stochastic process $\{X_k(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ to be almost surely square μ integrable with $\mathbb{E} ||X_k||^2 < \infty$ for each $k \ge 1$.

Proposition 3.3. The sample paths of the stochastic process $\{X_k(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ almost surely belong to the space $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu)$ and $\mathbb{E} ||X_k||^2 < \infty$ for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ if and only if both of the integrals

$$\mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \qquad and \qquad \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{2d(v) - 1} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \tag{3.11}$$

are finite.

Proof. We show that the expected value

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} X_0^2(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v)\right]$$

is finite if and only if integrals (3.11) are finite. First, using Fubini's theorem we obtain

$$\operatorname{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} X_0^2(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v)\right] = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \operatorname{E} X_0^2(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v).$$

Secondly, setting h = 0 and r = s in equation (3.4) gives the expression for the variance

$$\operatorname{E} X_0^2(s) = \sigma^2(s) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (j+1)^{-2d(s)}$$

for $s \in S$. Approximation of the series above by integrals leads to the following inequalities

$$2\int_{S} \operatorname{E} X_{0}^{2}(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v) \geq \int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^{2}(v)\mu\mathrm{d}v + \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^{2}(v)}{2d(v) - 1}\mu(\mathrm{d}v),$$
$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \operatorname{E} X_{0}^{2}(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v) \leq \int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^{2}(v)\mu(\mathrm{d}v) + \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^{2}(v)}{2d(v) - 1}\mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

The proof is complete.
A stochastic process $\{\xi(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ defined on a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) with sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu)$ induces the $\mathcal{F} - \mathcal{B}(L_2(\mu))$ -measurable function $\omega \to \{\xi(s)(\omega) : s \in \mathbb{S}\} : \Omega \to L_2(\mu)$, where $\mathcal{B}(L_2(\mu))$ is the Borel σ -algebra of $L_2(\mu)$ (for more details, see Cremers and Kadelka [11]). Therefore we shall frequently consider each stochastic process $\{\xi(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ with sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu)$ as a random element with values in $L_2(\mu)$ and denote it by $\{\xi(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ or simply by ξ .

Second approach

Now we establish a necessary and sufficient condition for the mean square convergence of series (3.1) with $\{a_j\}$ given by (3.2). Recall that $(j + 1)^{-D}f = \{(j + 1)^{-d(s)}f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for each $j \ge 0$ and $f \in L_2(\mu)$ since $e^T = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} T^j/j!$ and $\lambda^T = e^{T \log \lambda}$ for $T \in L(\mathbb{E})$ and $\lambda > 0$.

Proposition 3.4. Series (3.1) with a_j given by (3.2) and independent and identically distributed $L_2(\mu)$ -valued random elements $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ such that $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 < \infty$ converges in mean square if and only if there exists a measurable set $\mathbb{S}_0 \subset \mathbb{S}$ such that $\mu(\mathbb{S} \setminus \mathbb{S}_0) = 0$, d(s) > 1/2 for all $s \in \mathbb{S}_0$ and the integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{2d(v) - 1} \mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

is finite.

Proof. Let N > M, $\sigma^2(s) = \operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0^2(s)$ for $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and observe that

$$\mathbb{E}\left\|\sum_{j=M+1}^{N} (j+1)^{-D} \varepsilon_{j-k}\right\|^{2} = \sum_{j=M+1}^{N} \int_{\mathbb{S}} (j+1)^{-2d(v)} \sigma^{2}(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v).$$

Since

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{S}} (j+1)^{-2d(v)} \sigma^2(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v) = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j^{-2d(v)} \sigma^2(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2d(v) - 1} \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j^{-2d(v)} \le 1 + \frac{1}{2d(v) - 1}$$

we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{2d(v) - 1} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \le \int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(v) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j^{-2d(v)} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \le \mathbf{E} \, \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 + \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{2dv) - 1} \mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

and the proof is complete.

Remark 3.2. Since $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are independent, it follows from Lévy-Itô-Nisio theorem (see Ledoux and Talagrand [35], Theorem 6.1, p. 151) and Proposition 3.4 that series (3.1) also converges almost surely. Hence, X_k for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ is an $L_2(\mu)$ valued random element and Proposition 3.4 is consistent with Proposition 3.3. *Remark* 3.3. Since $\{a_j\}$ given by (3.2) are multiplication operators from $L_2(\mu)$ to $L_2(\mu)$, we have that the operator norm $||(j+1)^{-D}|| = \inf\{c > 0 : \mu(s \in \mathbb{S} :$ $|(j+1)^{-d(s)}| > c) = 0\}$ (see Theorem 1.5 of Conway [9]). If $\underline{d} = \operatorname{ess} \inf d = 1/2$, then we have that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||u_j||^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j^{-1} = \infty$, but series (3.1) might still converge. The square summability of the operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ is not a necessary condition for the almost sure convergence of series (3.1).

3.1.2 Asymptotic behaviour of cross-covariances

 $\zeta_n(t)$ can be expressed as a series

$$\zeta_n(t) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1} a_{nj}(t) \varepsilon_j$$

for each $t \in [0, 1]$, where

$$a_{nj}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} v_{k-j} + \{nt\} v_{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1-j}$$
(3.12)

and

$$v_j = \begin{cases} u_j, & \text{if } j \ge 0; \\ 0, & \text{if } j < 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

We adopt the usual convention that an empty sum equals 0.

Denote

$$S_n(s) = \sum_{k=1}^n X_k(s)$$

for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and

$$\zeta_n(s,t) = S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s) + \{nt\}X_{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1}(s)$$

for each $s \in S$ and each $t \in [0, 1]$. Each random variable $\zeta_n(s, t)$ can be expressed as a series

$$\zeta_n(s,t) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1} a_{nj}(s,t)\varepsilon_j(s),$$

where

$$a_{nj}(s,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} v_{k-j}(s) + \{nt\}v_{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1-j}(s)$$

and

$$v_j(s) = \begin{cases} (j+1)^{-d(s)}, & \text{if } j \ge 0; \\ 0, & \text{if } j < 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.14)

Observe that $v_j = v_j(s)$ if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ since $u_j = (j+1)^{-1}$ if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$. Notice that the upper bounds of summation of the series in the expressions of $\zeta_n(t)$ and $\zeta_n(s,t)$ can be extended up to ∞ since $a_{nj}(s,t) = 0$ and $a_{nj}(t) = 0$ if $j > \lfloor nt \rfloor + 1$.

The growth rate of the cross-covariance of the partial sums of the sequences $\{X_k(s)\}$ and $\{X_k(t)\}$ for $s, t \in \mathbb{S}$ is established in Proposition 3.5.

Proposition 3.5. If 1/2 < d(s) < 1 and 1/2 < d(t) < 1, then

$$\mathbf{E}[S_n(r)S_n(s)] \sim \frac{[c(r,s) + c(s,r)]\sigma(r,s)}{[2 - d(r,s)][3 - d(r,s)]} \cdot n^{3 - d(r,s)} \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$
(3.15)

where c(r, s) is given by (3.5) and d(r, s) is given by (3.6).

If
$$d(r) = d(s) = 1$$
, then

$$\mathbb{E}[S_n(r)S_n(s)] \sim \sigma(r,s) \cdot n \log^2 n \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$
(3.16)

Proof. The cross-covariance of the partial sums of the sequences $\{X_k(s)\}$ and $\{X_k(t)\}$ has the following expression

$$E[S_n(r)S_n(s)] = n\gamma_0(r,s) + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=k+1}^n E[X_k(r)X_l(s)] + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=k+1}^n E[X_k(s)X_l(r)]. \quad (3.17)$$

Since

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=k+1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[X_k(r)X_l(s)] = n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \gamma_k(r,s) - \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} k \gamma_k(r,s),$$

we can use the results of Proposition 3.1 to obtain the following asymptotic relations: if 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \gamma_k(r,s) \sim \frac{c(r,s)\sigma(r,s)}{2 - d(r,s)} \cdot n^{2 - d(r,s)} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} k \gamma_k(r,s) \sim \frac{c(r,s)\sigma(r,s)}{3 - d(r,s)} \cdot n^{3 - d(r,s)}$$

as $n \to \infty$; if d(s) = 1 and d(t) = 1, then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \gamma_k(r,s) \sim \frac{\sigma(r,s)}{2} \cdot \ln^2 n \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} k \gamma_k(r,s) \sim \sigma(r,s) \cdot n \ln n$$

as $n \to \infty$.

Remark 3.4. The asymptotic behaviour of the variance of the partial sums of the sequence $\{X_k(s)\}$ is the following: if 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$\operatorname{E} S_n^2(s) \sim \frac{c(s)\sigma^2(s)}{[1-d(s)][3-2d(s)]} \cdot n^{3-2d(s)};$$

if d(s) = 1, then

$$\operatorname{E} S_n^2(s) \sim \sigma^2(s) \cdot n \ln^2 n.$$

Set $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{S} \times [0, \infty)$ and define the function $V : \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$V((r,t),(s,u)) = \frac{\sigma(r,s)}{[2-d(r,s)][3-d(r,s)]} [c(s,r)t^{3-d(r,s)} + c(r,s)u^{3-d(r,s)} - C(r,s;t-u)|t-u|^{3-d(r,s)}], \quad (3.18)$$

where d(r, s) is given by (3.6), c(r, s) is given by (3.5) and

$$C(r,s;t) = \begin{cases} c(r,s) & \text{ if } t < 0; \\ c(s,r) & \text{ if } t > 0. \end{cases}$$

Now we are prepared to derive the asymptotic behavior of the sequence of crosscovariances of ζ_n .

Proposition 3.6. Suppose either 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and 1/2 < d(s) < 1 or d(r) = d(s) = 1. In both cases, the following asymptotic relation holds

$$\mathbf{E}[\zeta_n(r,t)\zeta_n(s,u)] \sim \mathbf{E}[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)].$$

Proposition 3.7. If 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$\mathbb{E}[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)] \sim V((r,t),(s,u)) \cdot n^{3-d(r,s)}$$

for $(r,t), (s,u) \in \mathbb{S} \times [0,1]$, where V is given by (3.18).

If d(r) = d(s) = 1, then

$$\mathbb{E}[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)] \sim \sigma(r,s) \cdot \min(t,u) \cdot n \log^2 n.$$

Remark 3.5. Let us assume that r = s and 1/2 < d(s) < 1. By setting r = s in Proposition 3.7 and using Proposition 3.6, we obtain that

$$\mathbf{E}[\zeta_n(s,t)\zeta_n(s,u)] \sim \frac{\sigma^2(s)c(s)}{[1-d(s)][3-2d(s)]} \cdot \mathbf{E}[B_{3/2-d(s)}(t)B_{3/2-d(s)}(u)] \cdot n^{3-2d(s)},$$

where

$$E[B_{3/2-d(s)}(t)B_{3/2-d(s)}(u)] = \frac{1}{2}[t^{3-2d(s)} + u^{3-2d(s)} - |t-u|^{3-2d(s)}]$$

is the covariance function of the fractional Brownian motion

$$B_{3/2-d(s)} = \{B_{3/2-d(s)}(t) : t \in [0,1]\}$$

with the Hurst parameter 3/2 - d(s) and c(s) is given by (3.5).

Remark 3.6. The asymptotic behaviour of the variance $E\zeta_n^2(s,t)$ follows from Proposition 3.6 and Proposition 3.7 by setting r = s and t = u: if 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$\mathbf{E}\,\zeta_n^2(s,t) \sim \frac{c(s)\sigma^2(s)}{[1-d(s)][3-2d(s)]} \cdot t^{3-2d(s)} \cdot n^{3-2d(s)};$$

if d(s) = 1, then

$$\mathrm{E}\,\zeta_n^2(s,t)\sim\sigma^2(s)\cdot t\cdot n\log^2 n.$$

Proof of Proposition 3.7. Suppose t < u and split the cross-covariance of the partial sums into two terms

$$E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)] = E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s)] + E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)[S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s) - S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s)]]. \quad (3.19)$$

The asymptotic behaviour of the first term of sum (3.19) is established using (3.15) and (3.16): if 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s)] \sim \frac{[c(r,s) + c(s,r)]\sigma(r,s)}{[2 - d(r,s)][3 - d(r,s)]} \cdot t^{3 - d(r,s)} \cdot n^{3 - d(r,s)};$$
(3.20)

if d(r) = d(s) = 1, then

$$\mathbb{E}[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s)] \sim \sigma(r,s) \cdot t \cdot n \log^2 n.$$
(3.21)

In order to establish the asymptotic behaviour of the second term of sum (3.19), we express it in the following way

$$E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)[S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s) - S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s)]] = \sum_{k=1}^{m_n - 1} k[\gamma_k(r, s) + \gamma_{\lfloor nu \rfloor - k}(r, s)] + m_n \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \lfloor nu \rfloor - 2\lfloor nt \rfloor \rfloor} \gamma_{m_n + k}(r, s), \quad (3.22)$$

where $m_n := \min(\lfloor nt \rfloor, \lfloor nu \rfloor - \lfloor nt \rfloor)$ (we also use the notation $m := \min(t, u - t)$). For simplicity, denote

$$\kappa(a,b) = \sum_{k=a+1}^{b} \gamma_k(r,s) \text{ and } \nu(a,b) = \sum_{k=a+1}^{b} k \gamma_k(r,s).$$

Then we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{m_n-1} k\gamma_{\lfloor nu \rfloor - k}(r,s) = \lfloor nu \rfloor \kappa(\lfloor nu \rfloor - m_n, \lfloor nu \rfloor - 1) - \nu(\lfloor nu \rfloor - m_n, \lfloor nu \rfloor - 1).$$
(3.23)

Let us a recall a few facts about sequences. We use these facts to establish asymptotic behaviour of the sums in (3.22) and (3.23). Suppose $\{a_n\}$ and $\{b_n\}$ are sequences of positive real numbers such that $a_n \sim b_n$. Then $\sum_{k=1}^n a_k \sim \sum_{k=1}^n b_k$ provided either of these partial sums diverges. Let f be a continuous strictly increasing or strictly decreasing function such that $f(x)/f(x+1) \to 1$ as $x \to \infty$ and $\int_1^n f(x) dx \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Then $\sum_{k=1}^n f(k) \sim \int_1^n f(x) dx$.

Since $\gamma_k(r,s) \sim c(r,s)\sigma(r,s) \cdot k^{1-d(r,s)}$ if 1/2 < d(r) < 1 and d(s) > 1/2 (see Proposition 3.1), we obtain the following asymptotic relations using the facts about sequences mentioned above:

$$\nu(0, m_n - 1) \sim \frac{c(r, s)\sigma(r, s)m^{3-d(r, s)}}{3 - d(r, s)} \cdot n^{3-d(r, s)}$$
(3.24)

$$\lfloor nu \rfloor \kappa (\lfloor nu \rfloor - m_n, \lfloor nu \rfloor - 1) \sim \sim \frac{c(r, s)\sigma(r, s)u[u^{2-d(r,s)} - (u - m)^{2-d(r,s)}]}{2 - d(r, s)} \cdot n^{3-d(r,s)};$$
(3.25)

$$\nu(\lfloor nu \rfloor - m_n, \lfloor nu \rfloor - 1) \sim \sim \frac{c(r, s)\sigma(r, s)[u^{3-d(r,s)} - (u - m)^{3-d(r,s)}]}{3 - d(r, s)} \cdot n^{3-d(r,s)};$$
(3.26)

$$m_n \kappa (m_n - 1, m_n + |\lfloor nu \rfloor - 2\lfloor nt \rfloor|) \sim \sim \frac{c(r, s)\sigma(r, s)m[(m + |u - 2t|)^{2-d(r,s)} - m^{2-d(r,s)}]}{2 - d(r, s)} \cdot n^{3-d(r,s)}.$$
(3.27)

We have that

$$\mathbb{E} \left[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r) [S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s) - S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(s)] \right] \sim \\ \sim \frac{c(r,s)\sigma(r,s)}{[2-d(r,s)][3-d(r,s)]} \left[-t^{3-d(r,s)} + u^{3-d(r,s)} - (u-t)^{3-d(r,s)} \right] \cdot n^{3-d(r,s)}$$
(3.28)

using asymptotic relations (3.24)-(3.27). Combining (3.20) with (3.28), we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)] \sim \frac{\sigma(r,s)}{[2-d(r,s)][3-d(r,s)]} [c(s,r)t^{3-d(r,s)} + c(r,s)[u^{3-d(r,s)} - (u-t)^{3-d(r,s)}]] \cdot n^{3-d(r,s)}.$$

Similarly, if d(r) = d(s) = 1, then $\gamma_k(r, s) \sim \sigma(r, s) \cdot k^{-1} \log k$ (see Proposition 3.1) and the following asymptotic relations are true

$$\nu(0, m_n - 1) \sim \sigma(r, s)m \cdot n \log n; \qquad (3.29)$$

$$\lfloor nu \rfloor \kappa (\lfloor nu \rfloor - m_n, \lfloor nu \rfloor - 1) \sim \sigma(r, s) [\log u - \log(u - m)] u \cdot n \log n; \qquad (3.30)$$

$$\nu(\lfloor nu \rfloor - m_n, \lfloor nu \rfloor - 1) \sim \sigma(r, s)m \cdot n \log n;$$
(3.31)

$$m_n \kappa (m_n - 1, m_n + |\lfloor nu \rfloor - 2\lfloor nt \rfloor|) \sim \\ \sim \sigma(r, s) [\log(m + |u - 2t|) - \log m] m \cdot n \log n. \quad (3.32)$$

Since sequences (3.29)-(3.32) grow slower than sequence (3.21), we conclude that

$$\mathbf{E}\big[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)\big] \sim \sigma(r,s) \cdot t \cdot n \log^2 n.$$

If t > u, the proof is exactly the same as in the case of t < u. If t = u, then we just use asymptotic relations (3.20) and (3.21). The proof of Proposition 3.7 is complete.

Proof of Proposition 3.6. We have that

$$E[\zeta_{n}(r,t)\zeta_{n}(s,u)] = E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)]$$

$$+ \{nu\} E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)X_{\lfloor nu \rfloor+1}(s)]$$

$$+ \{nt\} E[S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)X_{\lfloor nt \rfloor+1}(r)]$$

$$+ \{nt\}\{nu\} E[X_{\lfloor nt \rfloor+1}(r)X_{\lfloor nu \rfloor+1}(s)]$$

and

$$\mathbf{E}[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)X_{\lfloor nu \rfloor+1}(s)] \leq \lfloor nt \rfloor \gamma_0(r,s).$$

The result follows from Proposition 3.7 since $E[S_{\lfloor nt \rfloor}(r)S_{\lfloor nu \rfloor}(s)]$ is the only term in the expression of $E[\zeta_n(r,t)\zeta_n(s,u)]$ that grows faster than linearly. \Box

3.1.3 Operator self-similar process

In this section, we show that there exists a Gaussian stochastic process $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathcal{X}(s,t) : (s,t) \in \mathbb{T}\}$ with zero mean and covariance function V given by (3.18). The stochastic process $\{\mathcal{X}(\cdot,t) : t \in [0,\infty)\}$ is an operator self-similar process with values in $L_2(\mu)$.

We begin by showing that the function V is a covariance function.

Proposition 3.8. The function $V : \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$, given by (3.18), with $d \in (1/2, 1)$ is a covariance function of a stochastic process indexed by the set \mathbb{T} .

Proof. It follows from equation (3.18) that the function V is symmetric, i.e.

$$V(\tau, \tau') = V(\tau', \tau), \quad \tau, \tau' \in \mathbb{T}.$$

So we need to prove that the function V is positive definite. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\tau_i = (s_i, t_i) \in \mathbb{T}$ and $w_i \in \mathbb{R}$, where $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. Denote $M = \max\{t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$ and $\widetilde{w}_i = w_i M^{3/2 - d(s_i)}$, $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. Using equation (3.18) and Propositions 3.6 and 3.7, we obtain that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_i w_j V(\tau_i, \tau_j) =$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_i w_j M^{3 - [d(s_i) + d(s_j)]} V((s_i, t_i/M), (s_j, t_j/M))$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \widetilde{w}_i \widetilde{w}_j \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n^{3 - [d(s_i) + d(s_j)]}} \operatorname{E}[\zeta_n(s_i, t_i/M)\zeta_n(s_j, t_j/M)] \ge 0$$

since

$$\frac{1}{n^{3-d(r,s)}} \operatorname{E}[\zeta_n(r,t)\zeta_n(s,u)]$$

is a covariance function for all $(r, t), (s, u) \in \mathbb{S} \times [0, 1]$ and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let us recall that a random element ξ with values in a separable Banach space \mathbb{E} is Gaussian if for any continuous linear functional f on \mathbb{E} , $f(\xi)$ is real valued Gaussian random variable. A stochastic process $\{\xi_t : t \in T\}$ with values in \mathbb{E} is Gaussian if each finite linear combination $\sum_i \alpha_i \xi_{t_i}, \alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}, t_i \in T$, is Gaussian random element in \mathbb{E} (for more details about Gaussian random elements and Gaussian stochastic processes with values in Banach spaces, see the textbook by Ledoux and Talagrand [35]).

We have the following corollary of Proposition 3.8.

Corollary. There exists a zero mean Gaussian stochastic process $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathcal{X}(s,t) : (s,t) \in \mathbb{T}\}$ with the covariance function V given by (3.18).

Next we describe the sample path properties of the stochastic process \mathcal{X} . First we consider for each $t \in [0, \infty)$ the stochastic process $\{\mathcal{X}(s, t) : s \in S\}$.

Proposition 3.9. If $d \in (1/2, 1)$ and the integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)][2d(v)-1]} \mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

are finite, then for each $t \in [0, \infty)$ the stochastic process $\{\mathcal{X}(s, t) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ has sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu)$ and induces a Gaussian random element with values in $L_2(\mu)$ which is denoted by $\mathcal{X}(\cdot, t)$. Moreover, the process $\{\mathcal{X}(\cdot, t) : t \in [0, \infty)\}$ with values in $L_2(\mu)$ is Gaussian.

Proof. Since we have that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} \int_{\mathbb{S}} \mathcal{X}^{2}(v,t) \mu(\mathrm{d}v) &= \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^{2}(v)c(v)}{[1-d(v)][3-2d(v)]} \cdot t^{3-2d(v)} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\leq \max\{t,t^{2}\} \Big[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^{2}(v)}{[1-d(v)]^{2}} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^{2}(v)}{[1-d(v)][2d(v)-1]} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \Big] \end{split}$$

using inequality (3.7) to estimate c(s) from above, the sample paths of the stochastic process $\{\mathcal{X}(s,t) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ almost surely belong to the space $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu)$ for each $t \in [0, \infty)$. Hence $\mathcal{X}(\cdot, t)$ is a random element in $L_2(\mu)$. Clearly it is a Gaussian one.

Finally, we show that the stochastic process $\{\mathcal{X}(\cdot,t) : t \in [0,\infty)\}$ is operator self-similar.

Proposition 3.10. The stochastic process $\{\mathcal{X}(\cdot,t) : t \in [0,\infty)\}$ is operator selfsimilar with scaling family of operators $\{a^H : a > 0\}$ where a^H , a > 0, is a multiplication operator defined by $a^H f = \{a^{3/2-d(s)}f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for $f \in L_2(\mu)$. *Proof.* We need to show that

$$\{\mathcal{X}(\cdot, at) : t \in [0, \infty)\} \stackrel{fdd}{=} \{a^H \mathcal{X}(\cdot, t) : t \in [0, \infty)\}.$$
(3.33)

Since stochastic processes on both sides of equality (3.33) are zero-mean Gaussian stochastic processes, we only need to show that their covariance structure is the same. Using the fact that two operators A and B are equal if and only if $\langle Af, g \rangle =$ $\langle Bf, g \rangle$ for all $f, g \in L_2(\mu)$ and the fact that

$$E[a^{3/2-d(r)}\mathcal{X}(r,t)a^{3/2-d(s)}\mathcal{X}(s,u)] = E[\mathcal{X}(r,at)\mathcal{X}(s,au)]$$
(3.34)

for all $r, s \in \mathbb{S}$ and $t, u \in [0, \infty)$ (equality (3.34) follows from equation (3.18)), we conclude the proof by showing that

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathbf{E}[\langle a^{H}\mathcal{X}(\cdot,t),f\rangle a^{H}\mathcal{X}(\cdot,u)],g\rangle &= \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{S}} \mathbf{E}\Big[\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}} a^{3/2-d(u)}\mathcal{X}(u,t)f(u)\mu(\mathrm{d}u)\right)a^{3/2-d(r)}\mathcal{X}(r,u)\Big]g(r)\mu(\mathrm{d}r) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{S}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}} \mathbf{E}[a^{3/2-d(u)}\mathcal{X}(u,t)a^{3/2-d(r)}\mathcal{X}(r,u)]f(u)\mu(\mathrm{d}u)\right)g(r)\mu(\mathrm{d}r) \\ &= \langle \mathbf{E}[\langle \mathcal{X}(\cdot,at),f\rangle \mathcal{X}(\cdot,au)],g\rangle \end{split}$$

for all $f, g \in L_2(\mu)$.

3.1.4 Main tools

We use three auxiliary results in the proofs of the central limit theorem and the functional central limit theorem. The first result gives sufficient conditions for the convergence in distribution of random processes with sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu; \mathbb{E})$. The second result is used to establish convergence in distribution random elements with specific structure and values in a separable Hilbert space. The last result gives sufficient conditions for tightness of random elements with values in $C([0, 1]; \mathbb{H})$, where \mathbb{H} is a separable Hilbert space.

Convergence of random processes with sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu;\mathbb{E})$

Let \mathbb{E} be a separable Banach space with Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{E})$. Suppose that $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu; \mathbb{E}) = \mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{S}, \mu; \mathbb{E})$ is a separable space of square μ -integrable \mathbb{E} -valued functions with a seminorm

$$||f|| = \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} ||f(v)||^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}v)\right]^{1/2}$$

for $f \in \mathcal{L}_2(\mu; \mathbb{E})$. Let $L_2(\mu; \mathbb{E}) = L_2(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{S}, \mu; \mathbb{E})$ be the corresponding Banach space of equivalence classes of μ -almost everywhere equal functions.

Let $\{\xi_n\} = \{\xi_n : n \ge 0\}$ be a sequence of $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{B}_E$ -measurable functions $\xi_n :$ $\Omega \times \mathcal{S} \to \mathbb{E}$ with $\xi_n(\omega, \cdot) \in \mathcal{L}_2(\mu; \mathbb{E})$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and for all $n \ge 0$, i.e. a sequence of measurable random process with values in \mathbb{E} and sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu; \mathbb{E})$. Then the maps $\hat{\xi}_n : \Omega \to L_2(\mu; \mathbb{E}), \ \omega \mapsto \hat{\xi}_n(\omega) = \xi_n(\omega, \cdot)$ for each $n \ge 0$ are $\mathcal{F} - \mathcal{B}(L_2(\mu; \mathbb{E}))$ measurable (see Cremers and Kadelka [11]) and the distributions of $\hat{\xi}_n$ are well-defined probability measures on $(L_2(\mu; \mathbb{E}), \mathcal{B}(L_2(\mu; \mathbb{E})))$. It is said that ξ_n converges in distribution to ξ_0 and written $\xi_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \xi_0$ if and only if the distributions of $\hat{\xi}_n$ converge weakly to the distribution of $\hat{\xi}_0$, i.e. $\mathbb{E} f(\hat{\xi}_n) \to \mathbb{E} f(\hat{\xi}_0)$ for all bounded continuous functions $f: L_2(\mu; \mathbb{E}) \to \mathbb{R}$.

Now we are ready to state theorem which is proved by Cremers and Kadelka [12]. **Theorem 3.1.** Let $\{\xi_n\}$ be a sequence of random processes with sample paths in $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu; \mathbb{E})$. Then $\xi_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \xi_0$ as $n \to \infty$ provided that the following three conditions are satisfied:

- (I) the finite-dimensional distributions of ξ_n converge weakly to those of ξ_0 almost everywhere;
- (II) (a) for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, $\mathbb{E} \|\xi_n(s)\|^2 \to \mathbb{E} \|\xi_0(s)\|^2$ as $n \to \infty$;
 - (b) there exists a μ -integrable function $f: \mathbb{S} \to [0, \infty)$ such that

$$\mathbf{E} \|\xi_n(s)\|^2 \le f(s)$$

for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and each $n \geq 1$.

Convergence in distribution of random elements with values in a separable Hilbert space

Let \mathbb{E} and \mathbb{F} be two separable Hilbert spaces and let $L(\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{F})$ be the space of bounded linear operators from \mathbb{E} to \mathbb{F} . Suppose that a sequence $\{Z_n\}$ of \mathbb{F} -valued random elements can be expressed as

$$Z_n = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} B_{nj} \xi_j,$$

where $\{B_{nj}\}$ is a sequence in $L(\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{F})$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\{\xi_j\}$ is a sequence of independent and identically distributed \mathbb{E} -valued random elements with $\mathbb{E} \xi_0 = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\xi_0\|^2 < \infty$. Using the same linear bounded operators $\{B_{nj}\}$, we construct another sequence $\{\tilde{Z}_n\}$ of \mathbb{F} -valued random elements that can be represented as

$$\tilde{Z}_n = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} B_{nj} \tilde{\xi}_j,$$

where $\{\tilde{\xi}_j\}$ is a sequence of independent and identically distributed \mathbb{E} -valued Gaussian random elements with $\mathbf{E}\,\tilde{\xi}_0 = 0$ and the same covariance operator as that of ξ_0 .

Under the conditions of Lemma 3.1 below, the sequences $\{Z_n\}$ and $\{\tilde{Z}_n\}$ have the same limiting behaviour, i.e. if one converges in distribution then so does the other and their limits coincide. Before we state Lemma 3.1, we define the distance function ρ_k .

Definition 3.1. Let U and V be random elements with values in a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} . The distance function ρ_k is given by

$$\rho_k(U, V) = \sup_{f \in F_k} |\operatorname{E} f(U) - \operatorname{E} f(V)|,$$

where F_k is the set of k times Frechet differentiable functions $f : \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{H}} \left| f^{(j)}(x) \right| \le 1, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, k.$$

It is proved by Giné and León [18] that the distance function ρ_k metrizes the convergence in distribution of sequences of random elements with values in \mathbb{H} for every k > 0.

Lemma 3.1. If both of the conditions

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|B_{nj}\| = 0 \tag{3.35}$$

and

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j = -\infty}^{\infty} \|B_{nj}\|^2 < \infty$$
(3.36)

are satisfied, then $\lim_{n\to\infty} \rho_3(Z_n, \tilde{Z}_n) = 0.$

Proof. The proof follows from the proof of Proposition 4.1 of Račkauskas and Suquet [48]. The only difference is that $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{F}$ in Račkauskas and Suquet [48], but the proof remains valid as long as

$$||B_{nk}f|| \le ||B_{nk}|| ||f||$$

for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and each $f \in \mathbb{E}$.

Tightness of random elements with values in $C([0,1];\mathbb{H})$

Suppose that $\{Z_n\} = \{Z_n : n \ge 1\}$ are random elements with values in $C([0, 1] : \mathbb{H})$, where \mathbb{H} is a separable Hilbert space. The following theorem is an adaptation of Theorem 12.3 of Billinglesy [3] (see also Proposition 4.2 of Račkauskas and Suquet [48]).

Proposition 3.11. Let \mathbb{H} be a separable Hilbert space. The sequence $\{Z_n\}$ of random elements of the space $C([0,1];\mathbb{H})$ is tight if

- (i) $\{Z_n(t)\}$ is tight on \mathbb{H} for every $t \in [0, 1]$;
- (ii) there exists $\gamma \ge 0$, a > 1 and a continuous increasing function $F : [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$P(||Z_n(t) - Z_n(u)|| > \lambda) \le \lambda^{-\gamma} |F(t) - F(u)|^a.$$

3.2 Central limit theorem

Suppose that $\{X_k\} = \{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is an $L_2(\mu)$ -valued linear process such that $\{a_j\}$ is given by $a_j = (j+1)^{-D}$ for each $j \ge 0$, where $D : L_2(\mu) \to L_2(\mu)$ is a multiplication operator defined by $Df = \{d(s)f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for each $f \in L_2(\mu)$ with a measurable function $d : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{R}$. Suppose that $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^2 < \infty$. **Theorem 3.2.** Suppose that 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0^2(s) < \infty$ for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and both of the integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)][2d(v)-1]} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \tag{3.37}$$

are finite. Then

$$n^{-H}S_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} G \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where $\{n^{-H}\} = \{n^{-H} : n \ge 1\}$ are multiplication operators given by $n^{-H}f = \{n^{-[3/2-d(s)]}f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for each $f \in L^2(\mu)$, $G = \{G(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ is a zero mean Gaussian random process with the autocovariance function

$$\mathbf{E}[G(r)G(s)] = \frac{[c(r,s) + c(s,r)]\sigma(r,s)}{[2 - d(r,s)][3 - d(r,s)]}$$

where c(r, s) is given by (3.5), d(r, s) is given by (3.6) and $\sigma(r, s) = \mathbb{E}[\varepsilon_0(r)\varepsilon_0(s)]$ for each $r \in \mathbb{S}$ and each $s \in \mathbb{S}$.

Theorem 3.3. Suppose that d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, $E \varepsilon_0^2(s) < \infty$ for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v) < \infty.$$

Then

$$(\sqrt{n}\ln n)^{-1}S_n \xrightarrow{D} G' \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where $G' = \{G'(s) : s \in \}$ is a zero mean Gaussian random process with the autocovariance function $E[G'(r)G'(s)] = \sigma(r,s)$, where $\sigma(r,s) = E[\varepsilon_0(r)\varepsilon_0(s)]$ for each $r \in S$ and $s \in S$.

Theorem 3.4. Suppose that essinf d > 1 and $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0^2(s) < \infty$ for each $s \in S$. Then

$$(\sqrt{n})^{-1}S_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} G'',$$

where $G'' = \{G'(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ is a zero mean Gaussian random process.

Proof of Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.3. The proof is based on Theorem 3.1. We begin by proving the convergence of the finite-dimensional distributions.

In order to prove the convergence of finite dimensional distributions, we investigate a sequence of random vectors

$$\left(b_n^{-1}(s_1)S_n(s_1) \dots b_n^{-1}(s_q)S_n(s_q) \right)^{\mathrm{T}},$$
 (3.38)

where \mathbf{x}^{T} denotes the transpose of the vector $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{q}$, $s_{1}, \ldots, s_{q} \in \mathbb{S}$ and

$$b_n(s) = \begin{cases} n^{3/2 - d(s)}, & 1/2 < d(s) < 1; \\ \sqrt{n} \ln n, & d(s) = 1. \end{cases}$$

The sum of dependent random variables $S_n(s) = \sum_{k=1}^n X_k(s)$ can be expressed as a series of independent random variables: if $n \ge 2$, then we have the following identity

$$S_n(s) = \sum_{k=1}^n X_k(s) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^n z_{n,j}(s)\varepsilon_j(s),$$

where

$$z_{n,j}(s) = \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d(s)}, & 2 \le j \le n; \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n} (k-j+1)^{-d(s)}, & j < 2. \end{cases}$$

By denoting

$$\varepsilon_j^{(q)} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \varepsilon_j(s_1) & \dots & \varepsilon_j(s_q) \end{array} \right)^{\mathrm{T}}$$

and

$$B_{n,j} = \operatorname{diag} \left(b_n^{-1}(s_1) z_{n,j}(s_1) \dots b_n^{-1}(s_q) z_{n,j}(s_q) \right),$$

we can express the sequence of random vectors (3.38) compactly as

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} B_{n,j}\varepsilon_j^{(q)} = \left(\begin{array}{c} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} [b_n^{-1}(s_1)z_{n,j}(s_1)]\varepsilon_j(s_1) \\ \dots \\ \sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} [b_n^{-1}(s_q)z_{n,j}(s_q)]\varepsilon_j(s_q) \end{array}\right).$$

Using the fact that the operator norm of a diagonal matrix is the largest entry in absolute value, we obtain the operator norm of the matrix $B_{n,j}$

$$||B_{n,j}|| = \max_{1 \le i \le q} |b_n^{-1}(t_i)z_{n,j}(t_i)|.$$

Now suppose that

$$\gamma_j^{(q)} := \left(\begin{array}{cc} \gamma_j(t_1) & \dots & \gamma_j(t_q) \end{array} \right)^{\mathrm{T}}$$

is a zero mean normal random vector with the same covariance matrix as the vector $\varepsilon_j^{(q)}$. The sequence $\sum_{j=-\infty}^n B_{n,j}\gamma_j^{(q)}$ converges in distribution as $n \to \infty$ to a normal random vector if and only if the sequence of covariance matrices converges. It follows from Proposition 3.5 that the sequence of covariance matrices converges.

We use Lemma 3.1 to show that the sequences

$$\left\{\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} B_{n,j}\varepsilon_{j}^{(q)}\right\} \text{ and } \left\{\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} B_{n,j}\gamma_{j}^{(q)}\right\}$$

have the same limiting behaviour in the sense that if one converges in distribution then so does the other and their limits coincide. Propositon 3.12 establishes that the sequence of operator norms of the matrices $B_{n,j}$ satisfies two properties that are needed to apply Lemma 3.1. **Proposition 3.12.** If $1/2 < d \le 1$, then both of conditions (3.35) and (3.36) are satisfied.

Proof. To prove that condition (3.35) holds, we first notice that

$$\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|B_{n,j}\| = \max_{1 \le i \le q} \|b_n^{-1}(t_i)z_{n,1}(t_i)\|$$

and then we use the following asymptotic relations: if 1/2 < d < 1, then we obtain

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^{-d(t)} \sim \frac{n^{1-d(t)}}{1-d(t)};$$

if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in S$, then we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^{-1} \sim \ln n.$$

We use the following expression to prove that condition (3.36) holds

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} z_{n,j}^2(t) = \sum_{j=2}^{n} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d(t)} \right]^2 + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(t)} \right]^2.$$

Routine approximations of sums by integrals from above lead to the following inequalities: if 1/2 < d(t) < 1, then we have that

$$\sum_{j=2}^{n} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d(t)} \right]^2 \le \frac{1}{[1-d(t)]^2 [3-2d(t)]} [n^{3-2d(t)}-1];$$

if d(t) = 1, then we obtain

$$\sum_{j=2}^{n} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-1} \right]^2 \le (n-1) + n \ln^2 n.$$

To prove that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n^{3-2d(t)}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(t)} \right]^2 < \infty$$

for $1/2 < d(t) \le 1$, we first divide the series in the expression above into two summands

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(t)} \right]^2 = \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^{-d(t)} \right]^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(t)} \right]^2$$
(3.39)

and approximate the first summand on the right-hand side of the equation (3.39) by integral from above

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^{-d(t)} \le \begin{cases} \frac{n^{1-d(t)}}{1-d(t)} & \text{if } 1/2 < d(t) < 1; \\ 1 + \ln n & \text{if } d(t) = 1. \end{cases}$$

We express the second summand on the right-hand side of equation (3.39) in the following way

$$\frac{1}{n^{3-2d(t)}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(t)} \right]^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=(i-1)n+1}^{in} \left[\frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{k}{n} + \frac{j}{n} \right)^{-d(t)} \right]^2$$

and the interchange of limits leads to the result

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n^{3-2d(t)}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(t)} \right]^2 = \int_0^\infty \left[\int_0^1 (s+u)^{-d(t)} \mathrm{d}s \right]^2 \mathrm{d}u < \infty.$$

The proof of Proposition 3.12 is complete.

The proof of the convergence of the finite-dimensional distributions is complete. It follows from Remark 3.4 that

$$n^{-[3-2d(s)]} \to S_n^2(s) \to \to G^2(s)$$
 as $n \to \infty$

for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ if 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and

$$(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-1} \operatorname{E} S_n^2(s) \to \operatorname{E} G'^2(s) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty$$

for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$.

Finally, we establish the existence of non-negative μ -integrable functions that dominate the sequence of the variance of the partial sums.

Proposition 3.13. Let $s \in \mathbb{S}$. If 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$\mathbb{E}[n^{-[3/2-d(s)]}S_n(s)]^2 \le \sigma^2(s) \left[1 + \frac{1}{2d(s) - 1}\right] + \frac{\sigma^2(s)c(s)}{[1 - d(s)][3 - 2d(s)]}, \quad (3.40)$$

where c(s) is given by (3.5). If d(s) = 1, then

$$E[(\sqrt{n}\ln n)^{-1}S_n(s)]^2 \le C \cdot \sigma^2(s),$$
(3.41)

where C is a positive constant.

Proof. To establish the first inequality in Proposition 3.13, we set r = s in expression (3.17) and approximate the sums in expression (3.17) by integrals from above.

The following reasoning leads to inequality (3.41). We set r = s in expression (3.17) to obtain an expression for the left-hand side of inequality (3.41). Since d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, by setting r = s in expression (3.4), we see that the only term in the expression of the left-hand side of inequality (3.41) that depends on s is $\sigma^2(s)$. It follows that the sequence

$$\frac{1}{\sigma^2(s)} \cdot \mathrm{E}[(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-1}S_n(s)]^2$$

is a convergent sequence (see Remark 3.4) which does not depend on s. So it is bounded by some positive constant, say C.

Remark 3.7. Using inequality (3.7), we obtain

$$\frac{\sigma^2(s)c(s)}{[1-d(s)][3-2d(s)]} \le \frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1-d(s)]^2} + \frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1-d(s)][2d(s)-1]}$$

If integrals (3.37) are finite, then the right-hand side of the inequality (3.40) is a μ -integrable function.

The proof of Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.3 is complete.

3.3 Functional central limit theorem

We shall consider $\{\zeta_n\}$ as random elements with values in a separable Banach space $C([0, 1]; L_2(\mu))$ of continuous functions $f : [0, 1] \to L_2(\mu)$ endowed with the norm

$$||f|| = \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} f^2(v,t) \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \right]^{1/2}, \quad f \in C([0,1]; L_2(\mu)).$$

Before stating sufficient conditions for the functional central limit theorem, we define the limit Gaussian processes

 $\mathcal{G} = \{ \mathcal{G}(s,t) : (s,t) \in \mathbb{S} \times [0,1] \} \text{ and } \mathcal{G}' = \{ \mathcal{G}'(s,t) : (s,t) \in \mathbb{S} \times [0,1] \}.$

Let the stochastic process \mathcal{G} be a restriction to $\mathbb{S} \times [0,1]$ of the stochastic process $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathcal{X}(s,t) : (s,t) \in \mathbb{S} \times [0,\infty)\}$ defined in Subsection 3.1.3. Let the stochastic process \mathcal{G}' be Gaussian with the covariance function $\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{G}'(r,t)\mathcal{G}'(s,u)] = \sigma(r,s)\min(t,u), (r,t), (s,u) \in \mathbb{S} \times [0,1]$. If the integral $\int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(v)\mu(dv)$ is finite, then for each $t \in [0,1]$ the sample paths of the stochastic process $\{\mathcal{G}'(s,t) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ belong to the space $\mathcal{L}_2(\mu)$ (the proof is basically the same as the proof of Proposition 3.9).

The following proposition establishes conditions under which both of the stochastic processes $\{\mathcal{G}(\cdot, t) : t \in [0, 1]\}$ and $\{\mathcal{G}'(\cdot, t) : t \in [0, 1]\}$ with values in the space $L_2(\mu)$ have continuous versions.

Proposition 3.14. If the integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)][2d(v)-1]} \mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

are finite, then the $L_2(\mu)$ -valued stochastic process $\{\mathcal{G}(\cdot,t) : t \in [0,1]\}$ has a continuous version.

If the integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v)$$

is finite, then the $L_2(\mu)$ -valued stochastic process $\{\mathcal{G}'(\cdot, t) : t \in [0, 1]\}$ has a continuous version.

Proof. We use the following inequality for the moments of a Gaussian random element ξ with values in a separable Banach space:

$$(\mathbf{E} \|\xi\|^p)^{1/p} \le K_{p,q} (\mathbf{E} \|\xi\|^q)^{1/q}, \tag{3.42}$$

where $0 < p, q < \infty$ and $K_{p,q}$ is a constant depending on p and q only (for the proof, see Ledoux and Talagrand [35], p. 59, Corollary 3.2).

Using Kolmogorov's continuity theorem (see Kallenberg [29], p. 35, Theorem 2.23), inequality (3.7) to estimate c(s) from above, inequalities

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E} \, \|\mathcal{G}(\cdot, t) - \mathcal{G}(\cdot, u)\|^4 \leq \\ & \leq K_{4,2}^4 (\mathbb{E} \, \|\mathcal{G}(\cdot, t) - \mathcal{G}(\cdot, u)\|^2)^2 \\ & < K_{4,2}^4 \Big[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1 - d(v)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) + \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1 - d(v)][2d(v) - 1]} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \Big]^2 \cdot |t - u|^2 \end{split}$$

and

$$\mathbb{E} \left\| \mathcal{G}'(\cdot, t) - \mathcal{G}'(\cdot, u) \right\|^4 \le K_{4,2}^4 \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(v) \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \right]^2 |t - u|^2,$$

we conclude that the processes $\{\mathcal{G}(\cdot,t), t \in [0,1]\}$ and $\{\mathcal{G}'(\cdot,t), t \in [0,1]\}$ have continuous versions.

Passing to continuous versions, we thus consider Gaussian stochastic processes \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{G}' as Gaussian random elements in the space $C([0, 1]; L_2(\mu))$. Clearly \mathcal{G}' is an $L_2(\mu)$ -valued Wiener process.

Now we are ready to state our main results. As usual, $\xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}}$ denotes the convergence in distribution.

Theorem 3.5. Suppose that 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, the integrals

$$E\left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\varepsilon_0^2(v)}{[1-d(v)]^2} \mu(dv)\right]^{p/2} \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(v)}{[1-d(v)][2d(v)-1]} \mu(dv)$$

are finite and either p = 2 and $\overline{d} = \operatorname{ess sup} d < 1$ or p > 2. Then we have that

$$n^{-H}\zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{G} \quad as \quad n \to \infty$$

in the space $C([0,1]; L_2(\mu))$, where $\{n^{-H}\}$ is a sequence of multiplication operators given by $n^{-H}f = \{n^{-[3/2-d(s)]}f(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}$ for $f \in L_2(\mu)$.

Remark 3.8. We have that if 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and p > 0, then

$$\mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p < 2^{-p} \mathbf{E} \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\varepsilon_0^2(v)}{[1-d(v)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}v) \right]^{p/2}$$

since 1 - d(v) < 1/2.

Theorem 3.6. Suppose that d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and $\mathbb{E} ||\varepsilon_0||^p < \infty$ for some p > 2. Then we have that

$$(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-1}\zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{G}' \quad as \quad n \to \infty$$

in the space $C([0, 1]; L_2(\mu))$.

Theorem 3.7. Suppose that $\underline{d} = \operatorname{ess\,inf} d > 1$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 < \infty$. Then we have that

$$(\sqrt{n})^{-1}\zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{G}' \quad as \quad n \to \infty$$

in the space $C([0, 1]; L_2(\mu))$.

Proof of Theorem 3.7. The convergence of Theorem 3.7 follows from Theorem 5 of Račkauskas and Suquet [47] since $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||u_j|| = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j^{-\underline{d}} < \infty$.

Proof of Theorem 3.5 and Theorem 3.6. The proof contains two major parts. We prove the convergence of the finite-dimensional distributions of the sequences $\{n^{-H}\zeta_n\}$ and $\{(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-1}\zeta_n\}$ in the first part and we prove the tightness of these sequences in the second part.

To avoid considerations of two separate but similar cases, we denote $b_n^{-1} = n^{-H}$ and $\zeta = \mathcal{G}$ in the proof of Theorem 3.5, whereas $b_n = \sqrt{n} \log n$ and $\zeta = \mathcal{G}'$ in the proof of Theorem 3.6.

Convergence of the finite-dimensional distributions

The convergence of the finite-dimensional distributions means that the convergence

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} b_n^{-1}\zeta_n(t_1) & \dots & b_n^{-1}\zeta_n(t_q) \end{array}\right) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \zeta(t_1) & \dots & \zeta(t_q) \end{array}\right)$$
(3.43)

holds in the space $L_2^q(\mu)$ for all $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $t_1, \ldots, t_q \in [0, 1]$. Note that the space $L_2^q(\mu)$ is isomorphic to $L_2(\mu; \mathbb{R}^q)$, the space of \mathbb{R}^q -valued square μ -integrable functions with the norm

$$||f|| = \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} ||f(v)||^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}v)\right]^{1/2}$$

for $f \in L_2(\mu; \mathbb{R}^q)$, where ||f(v)|| denotes the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^q .

Fix $t_1, \ldots, t_q \in [0, 1]$ and denote, for $s \in \mathbb{S}$,

$$\zeta_n^{(q)}(s) = (\zeta_n(t_1, s), \dots, \zeta_n(t_q, s))^{\mathrm{T}}$$
 and $\zeta^{(q)}(s) = (\zeta(t_1, s), \dots, \zeta(t_q, s))^{\mathrm{T}}$,

where \mathbf{x}^{T} denotes transpose of a vector \mathbf{x} .

Let $\zeta_n^{(q)} = \{\zeta_n^{(q)}(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}\$ and $\zeta^{(q)} = \{\zeta^{(q)}(s) : s \in \mathbb{S}\}.$ We need to prove that

$$b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^{(q)} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \zeta^{(q)}$$
 (3.44)

in the space $L_2(\mu; \mathbb{R}^q)$ to establish (3.43).

According to Theorem 3.1, it suffices to prove the following:

(I) there exists a measurable set $\mathbb{S}_0 \subset \mathbb{S}$ such that $\mu(\mathbb{S} \setminus \mathbb{S}_0) = 0$ and for any $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s_1, \ldots, s_p \in \mathbb{S}_0$ we have that

$$(b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^{(q)}(s_1) \ldots b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^{(q)}(s_p)) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} (\zeta^{(q)}(s_1) \ldots \zeta^{(q)}(s_p));$$

(II) (a) for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$,

$$\mathbb{E} \| b_n^{-1} \zeta_n^{(q)}(s) \|^2 \to \mathbb{E} \| \zeta^{(q)}(s) \|^2;$$

(b) there exists a μ -integrable function $f: \mathbb{S} \to [0, \infty)$ such that for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and each $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\mathbb{E} \left\| b_n^{-1} \zeta_n^{(q)}(s) \right\|^2 \le f(s).$$

We use Lemma 3.1 to prove (I). Let $s_1, \ldots, s_p \in \mathbb{S}$. We express the sequence

$$\left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^q(s_1) & \dots & b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^q(s_p) \end{array} \right) \right\}$$

of random matrices as

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^q(s_1) & \dots & b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^q(s_p) \end{pmatrix} =$$

$$= \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} z_n^{-1}(s_1)a_{nj}(s_1,t_1)\varepsilon_j(s_1) & \dots & z_n^{-1}(s_p)a_{nj}(s_p,t_1)\varepsilon_j(s_p) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ z_n^{-1}(s_1)a_{nj}(s_1,t_q)\varepsilon_j(s_1) & \dots & z_n^{-1}(s_p)a_{nj}(s_p,t_q)\varepsilon_j(s_p) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} A_{nj}\mathcal{E}_j,$$

where

$$A_{nj} = \begin{pmatrix} z_n^{-1}(s_1)a_{nj}(s_1, t_1) & \cdots & z_n^{-1}(s_p)a_{nj}(s_p, t_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ z_n^{-1}(s_1)a_{nj}(s_1, t_q) & \cdots & z_n^{-1}(s_p)a_{nj}(s_p, t_q) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathcal{E}_j = \operatorname{diag}(\varepsilon_j(s_1) & \cdots & \varepsilon_j(s_p))$$

and

$$z_n(s) = \begin{cases} n^{3/2 - d(s)}, & \text{if } 1/2 < d(s) < 1; \\ \sqrt{n} \log n, & \text{if } d(s) = 1. \end{cases}$$

If $d \in (1/2, 1]$, then the matrices $\{A_{nj}\}$ satisfy both of conditions (3.35) and (3.36). Indeed, since

$$\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} a_{nj}(s,t) = a_{n1}(s,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} k^{-d(s)} + \{nt\}(\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1)^{-d(s)},$$

we have the following asymptotic relations

$$\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} a_{nj}(s, t) \sim \begin{cases} \frac{t^{1-d(s)}}{1-d(s)} \cdot n^{1-d(s)}, & \text{if } d(s) < 1; \\ \log n, & \text{if } d(s) = 1. \end{cases}$$

We have that

$$\operatorname{E}\zeta_n^2(s,t) = \sigma^2(s) \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor + 1} a_{nj}^2(s,t)$$

and we use the asymptotic behaviour of the variance $E \zeta_n^2(s, t)$ (see Remark 3.4) to obtain the following asymptotic relations

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor+1} a_{nj}^2(s,t) \sim \begin{cases} \frac{c(s)}{[1-d(s)][3-2d(s)]} \cdot t^{3-2d(s)} \cdot n^{3-2d(s)}, & \text{if } 1/2 < d(s) < 1; \\ t \cdot n \log^2 n, & \text{if } d(s) = 1. \end{cases}$$

Now we investigate the sequence $\{ (b_n^{-1} \tilde{\zeta}_n^q(s_1) \dots b_n^{-1} \tilde{\zeta}_n^q(s_p)) \}$, which is expressed as

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} b_n^{-1}\tilde{\zeta}_n^q(s_1) & \dots & b_n^{-1}\tilde{\zeta}_n^q(s_p)\end{array}\right) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} A_{nj}\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_j, \qquad (3.45)$$

where $\{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_j\}$ is a sequence of independent and identically distributed Gaussian random matrices with zero mean and the same covariance operator as that of \mathcal{E}_0 . Since $\{(\tilde{\zeta}_n^q(r) \ldots \tilde{\zeta}_n^q(s_p))\}$ is a sequence of finite-dimensional Gaussian random elements, we only need to check for each $i = 1, \ldots, p$ and each $j = 1, \ldots, q$ the convergence

$$z_n^{-1}(s_i) \to \zeta_n(s_i, t_j) \to \to \zeta(s_i, t_j).$$

But this easily follows from Proposition 3.6 and Proposition 3.7. The proof of (I) is complete.

Next we prove (II). We prove (IIa) using equalities

$$\mathbb{E} \|b_n^{-1}\zeta_n^q(s)\|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^q \mathbb{E}[z_n^{-1}(s)\zeta_n(s,t_i)]^2 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{E} \|\zeta^q(s)\|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^q \mathbb{E}\,\zeta^2(s,t_i)$$

and Remark 3.4.

An auxiliary result is needed to prove part (IIb).

Proposition 3.15. If 1/2 < d(s) < 1, then

$$\mathbf{E}[n^{-[3/2-d(s)]}\zeta_n(s,t)]^2 \le g(s) = 2[g_1(s) + g_2(s) + g_3(s)],$$
(3.46)

for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where

$$g_1(s) = \sigma^2(s) \left[1 + \frac{1}{2d(s) - 1} \right], \quad g_2(s) = \frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1 - d(s)]^2},$$
$$g_3(s) = \frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1 - d(s)][2d(s) - 1]}$$

and c(s) is given by (3.5).

If d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, then

$$\mathbb{E}[(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-1}\zeta_n(s,t_i)]^2 \le M \cdot \sigma^2(s), \tag{3.47}$$

where M is a positive constant.

$\mathit{Proof.}\,$ Expanding $\mathrm{E}\,\zeta_n^2(s,t)$ gives

$$\mathbf{E}\,\zeta_n^2(s,t) = \lfloor nt \rfloor \gamma_0(s) + 2\sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} (\lfloor nt \rfloor - k)\gamma_k(s) + 2\{nt\}\sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} \gamma_k(s) + \{nt\}^2 \gamma_0(s).$$
(3.48)

Using expression (3.4) for cross-covariance, bounding series with integrals from above and using inequality (3.7) leads to the following inequalities that complete the proof of inequality (3.46):

$$\gamma_0(s) \le \sigma^2(s) \Big[1 + \frac{1}{2d(s) - 1} \Big],$$
$$\sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} (\lfloor nt \rfloor - k) \gamma_k(s) \le \frac{1}{2} \Big[\frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1 - d(s)]^2} + \frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1 - d(s)][2d(s) - 1]} \Big] \lfloor nt \rfloor^{3 - 2d(s)}$$

and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor nt \rfloor} \gamma_k(s) \le \frac{1}{2} \Big[\frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1-d(s)]^2} + \frac{\sigma^2(s)}{[1-d(s)][2d(s)-1]} \Big] \lfloor nt \rfloor^{2[1-d(s)]}.$$

We argue as follows to prove inequality (3.47). By setting r = s in expression (3.4), we see that the only term in expression (3.48) that depends on s is $\sigma^2(s)$ since d(s) = 1 for each $s \in S$. It follows that the sequence

$$\frac{1}{\sigma^2(s)} \cdot \mathrm{E}[(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-1}\zeta_n(s,t)]^2$$

does not depend on s and it is a convergent sequence (see Remark 3.4). So it is bounded by some positive constant, say M.

Now we can obtain the required function f using Proposition 3.15, the fact that $\mathbf{E} \|\zeta^q(s)\|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^q \mathbf{E} \zeta^2(s, t_i)$ and setting

$$f(s) = \begin{cases} q \cdot g(s), & \text{if } d(s) < 1; \\ qM \cdot \sigma^2(s), & \text{if } d(s) = 1. \end{cases}$$

The proof of (II) is complete. This completes the proof of the convergence of the finite dimensional distributions of the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}\zeta_n\}$.

Tightness

To establish tightness of the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}\zeta_n\}$, we use Proposition 3.11. It follows from Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.3 that the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}S_n\}$ converges in distribution in $L_2(\mu)$. Hence the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}\zeta_n(t)\}$ also converges in distribution in $L_2(\mu)$ and the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}\zeta_n(t)\}$ is tight on $L_2(\mu)$ for every $t \in [0, 1]$ and condition (i) of Proposition 3.11 holds.

Now we show that condition (ii) of Proposition 3.11 holds for the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}\zeta_n\}$. By C we denote a generic positive constant, not necessarily the same at different occurrences. We also denote

$$\Delta_n^p(t, u) = \mathbf{E} \| b_n^{-1} [\zeta_n(t) - \zeta_n(u)] \|^p,$$

where $p \ge 2, t, u \in [0, 1]$ and $n \ge 1$.

Proposition 3.16. Suppose that 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in S$ and the integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(r)}{2d(r) - 1} \mu(\mathrm{d}r) \qquad and \qquad \mathbf{E} \Big[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\varepsilon_0^2(r)}{[1 - d(r)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}r) \Big]^{p/2}, \quad p \ge 2.$$

are finite. Let $\bar{d} = \operatorname{ess\,sup} d$. Then

$$\Delta_n^p(t,u) \le C \cdot |t-u|^{(3-2\bar{d})p/2}, \quad n \ge 1.$$
(3.49)

Suppose that d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p < \infty$ for $p \ge 2$. Then

$$\Delta_n^p(t,u) \le C \cdot |t-u|^{p/2}, \quad n \ge 2.$$
(3.50)

We recall that $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$ is the floor function defined by $\lfloor x \rfloor = \max\{m \in \mathbb{Z} \mid m \leq x\}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $\lceil \cdot \rceil$ is the ceiling function defined by $\lceil x \rceil = \min\{m \in \mathbb{Z} \mid m \geq x\}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\{x\} = x - \lfloor x \rfloor$ is a fractional part of $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Observe that $\{x\} = 0$ if and only if $x \in \mathbb{Z}$ and

$$\lceil x \rceil - \lfloor x \rfloor = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{Z}; \\ 1, & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

We need an auxiliary lemma to prove Proposition 3.16.

Lemma 3.2. Let $0 \le u < t \le 1$, $n \ge 1$ and $\{nt\} = \{nu\} = 0$.

If 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, then

$$n^{-[3-2d(s)]} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}(s) \right]^2 \le \left[\frac{2}{[1-d(s)]^2} + \frac{1}{2d(s)-1} \right] \cdot |t-u|^{3-2d(s)}$$
(3.51)

for $n \ge 1$, where $v_j(s)$ is given by (3.14).

If d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, then

$$(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-p} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}\right]^p \le C \cdot |t-u|^{p/2}, \tag{3.52}$$

for $n \ge 2$ and $p \ge 2$, where v_j is given by (3.13).

Proof. We investigate the series

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}(s)\right]^p \tag{3.53}$$

with p = 2 in the case of 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in S$ and $p \ge 2$ in the case of d(s) = 1 for each $s \in S$. Let us split series (3.53) into two terms

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}(s)\right]^p = \sum_{j=-nu+1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(s)}\right]^p + \sum_{j=nu+1}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{nt-j+1} k^{-d(s)}\right]^p \quad (3.54)$$

and then split the first term on the right-hand side of (3.54) again into two terms

$$\sum_{j=-nu+1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(s)}\right]^p = \sum_{j=-nu+1}^{n(t-2u)} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(s)}\right]^p$$

+
$$\sum_{j=n(t-2u)+1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(s)} \right]^p$$
. (3.55)

The first term on the right-hand side of (3.55) is estimated from above in the following way:

$$n^{-[3-2d(s)]} \sum_{j=-nu+1}^{n(t-2u)} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(s)} \right]^2 \le \frac{n|t-u|}{n^{3-2d(s)}} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k-nu)^{-d(s)} \right]^2 \le \frac{|t-u|^{3-2d(s)}}{[1-d(s)]^2}$$

if 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$;

$$(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-p} \sum_{j=-nu+1}^{n(t-2u)} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-1}\right]^p \le \left[\frac{1}{\log n} \sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k-nu)^{-1}\right]^p \cdot |t-u|^{p/2}$$
$$\le \left[\frac{1+\log(n|t-u|)}{\log n}\right]^p \cdot |t-u|^{p/2}$$

if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ since $1/n \leq |t - u|$ (otherwise t = u because we assume that $\{nt\} = \{nu\} = 0$). The second term on the right-hand side of (3.55) is estimated from above using the inequality

$$\sum_{j=n(t-2u)+1}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(s)}\right]^p \le (n|t-u|)^p \sum_{j=n(t-2u)+1}^{\infty} (nu+j)^{-pd(s)}$$
$$\le \frac{(n|t-u|)^{p+1-pd(s)}}{pd(s)-1}$$

and observing that

$$n^{-[3-2d(s)]}(n|t-u|)^{p+1-pd(s)} = |t-u|^{3-2d(s)}$$

if 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and p = 2 and

$$(\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-p}(n|t-u|)^{p+1-pd(s)} \le \frac{|t-u|^{p/2}}{\log^p 2}$$

if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and $p \ge 2$ since $1/n \le |t - u|$.

The second term on the right-hand side of (3.54) is estimated in the following way:

$$n^{-[3-2d(s)]} \sum_{j=nu+1}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{nt-j+1} k^{-d(s)} \right]^2 \le \frac{1}{[1-d(s)]^2 [3-2d(s)]} \cdot |t-u|^{3-2d(s)}$$

if 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and

$$\begin{aligned} (\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-p} \sum_{j=nu+1}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{nt-j+1} k^{-1}\right]^p &\leq \frac{1}{n^{p/2}\log^p n} \sum_{j=nu+1}^{nt} \left[1 + \log(nt-j+1)\right]^p \\ &\leq 2\left[\frac{1}{\log 2} + \frac{\log(n|t-u|)}{\log n}\right]^p \cdot |t-u|^{p/2} \end{aligned}$$

if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in S$. The proof of Lemma 3.2 is complete.

Now we are ready to prove Proposition 3.16.

Proof of Proposition 3.16. Let $t, u \in [0, 1]$. There is no loss of generality by assuming that t > u. Set $t' = \lfloor nt \rfloor / n$ and $u' = \lceil nu \rceil / n$, so that $t, t' \in \lfloor \lfloor nt \rfloor / n, \lceil nt \rceil / n]$, $u, u' \in \lfloor \lfloor nu \rfloor / n, \lceil nu \rceil / n]$, $\{nt'\} = \{nu'\} = 0$ and $|t' - u'| \leq |t - u|$. Since

$$\Delta_n^p(t,u) \le C[\Delta_n^p(t,t') + \Delta_n^p(t',u') + \Delta_n^p(u',u)],$$

we can establish inequalities (3.49) and (3.50) by investigating two cases: either $t, u \in [\kappa/n, (\kappa+1)/n]$ for some $\kappa \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ or $\{nt\} = \{nu\} = 0$.

First, suppose that $t, u \in [\kappa/n, (\kappa + 1)/n]$ for some $\kappa \in \{0, \dots, n-1\}$. Then $|t-u| \leq 1/n$ and

$$\zeta_n(t) - \zeta_n(u) = n|t - u|X_{\kappa+1},$$

so that

$$\Delta_n^p(t,u) \le [n|t-u|]^p ||n^{-H}||^p \mathsf{E} ||X_0||^p \le \mathsf{E} ||X_0||^p \cdot |t-u|^{(3-2\bar{d})p/2}$$

if 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and

$$\Delta_n^p(t,u) = [n|t-u|]^p (\sqrt{n}\log n)^{-p} \mathbf{E} ||X_0||^p \le \frac{\mathbf{E} ||X_0||^p}{\log^p 2} \cdot |t-u|^{p/2}$$

if d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$ and $n \ge 2$.

We have that

$$\mathbf{E} \|X_0\|^p \le 2^{p-1} \left(C \frac{p}{\log p} \right)^p \left[(\mathbf{E} \|X_0\|^2)^{p/2} + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{E} \|u_j \varepsilon_{k-j}\|^p \right]$$
(3.56)

by using a slight modification of the inequality stated in Theorem 6.20 of Ledoux and Talagrand [35]. Since

$$\mathbf{E} \|X_0\|^2 \le \mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 + \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\sigma^2(r)}{2d(r) - 1} \mu(\mathrm{d}r)$$

and $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \| u_j \varepsilon_{k-j} \|^p \leq \mathbb{E} \| \varepsilon_0 \|^p \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j^{-p/2}$, we have that $\mathbb{E} \| X_0 \|^p < \infty$.

Secondly, suppose that $\{nt\} = \{nu\} = 0$. Then $|t - u| \ge 1/n$ $(\Delta_n^p(t, u) = 0$ if $\{nt\} = \{nu\} = 0$ and |t - u| < 1/n. The increment $b_n^{-1}[\zeta_n(t) - \zeta_n(u)]$ may be expressed as a series of independent $L_2(\mu)$ -valued random elements

$$b_n^{-1}[\zeta_n(t) - \zeta_n(u)] = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} b_n^{-1} \sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}\varepsilon_j$$

where v_j is given by (3.14). Using the same inequality as in (3.56), we have that

$$\Delta_n^p(t,u) \le 2^{p-1} \left(C \frac{p}{\log p} \right)^p \left[\Delta_n^p 2^{p/2}(t,u) + \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \mathbb{E} \left\| b_n^{-1} \sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j} \varepsilon_j \right\|^p \right].$$

If 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, then we have that

$$\Delta_n^2(t,u) = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \sigma^2(r) n^{-[3-2d(r)]} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}(r) \right]^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}r)$$
(3.57)

and

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \mathbb{E} \left\| b_n^{-1} \sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j} \varepsilon_j \right\|^p = \\ = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} n^{-[3-2d(r)]} \left| \sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j}(r) \right|^2 \varepsilon_j^2(r) \mu(\mathrm{d}r) \right]^{p/2}.$$
 (3.58)

If d(s) = 1 for each $s \in \mathbb{S}$, then we obtain

$$\Delta_n^2(t,u) = \mathbf{E} \, \|\varepsilon_0\|^2 (\sqrt{n} \log n)^{-2} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j} \right]^2 \tag{3.59}$$

and

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \mathbf{E} \left\| b_n^{-1} \sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j} \varepsilon_j \right\|^p t = \mathbf{E} \left\| \varepsilon_0 \right\|^p (\sqrt{n} \log n)^{-p} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{nt} \left[\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} v_{k-j} \right]^p.$$
(3.60)

We estimate (3.57), (3.59) and (3.60) using Lemma 3.2 and we need to estimate series (3.58) for p > 2 when 1/2 < d(s) < 1 for each $s \in S$. As in (3.54) and (3.55), we split series (3.58) into three parts and estimate them from above separately. The estimation is essentially similar to the estimation of series (3.53). Let us recall that we assume that $1/n \leq |t-u|$ if $\{nt\} = \{nu\} = 0$. The following inequalities are obtained:

$$\sum_{j=-nu+1}^{n(t-2u)} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{|\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(r)}|^2 \varepsilon_j^2(r)}{n^{3-2d(r)}} \mu(\mathrm{d}r)\right]^{p/2} \le \\ \le \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\varepsilon_0^2(r)}{[1-d(r)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}r)\right]^{p/2} |t-u|^{(3-2\bar{d})p/2}$$

since

$$\frac{\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k-nu)^{-d(r)}}{n^{1-d(r)}} \le \frac{|t-u|^{1-d(r)}}{1-d(r)};$$

$$\sum_{j=n(t-2u)+1}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{|\sum_{k=nu+1}^{nt} (k+j)^{-d(r)}|^2 \varepsilon_j^2(r)}{n^{3-2d(r)}} \mu(\mathrm{d}r)\right]^{p/2} \le \frac{\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p}{p/2-1} |t-u|^{(3-2\bar{d})p/2}$$

since

$$\left(\frac{n}{nu+j}\right)^{2d(r)} = \left(\frac{n}{n|t-u|}\right)^{2d(r)} \left(\frac{n|t-u|}{nu+j}\right)^{2d(r)} \le n|t-u|^{1-2\bar{d}}(nu+j)^{-1}$$

for $j \ge n(t - 2u) + 1;$

$$\sum_{j=nu+1}^{nt} \mathbf{E} \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{|\sum_{k=1}^{nt-j+1} k^{-d(r)}|^2 \varepsilon_j^2(r)}{n^{3-2d(r)}} \mu(\mathrm{d}r) \right]^{p/2} \\ \leq \frac{2^{1+p(1-\bar{d})}}{1+p(1-\bar{d})} \mathbf{E} \left[\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\varepsilon_0^2(r)}{[1-d(r)]^2} \mu(\mathrm{d}r) \right]^{p/2} |t-u|^{(3-\bar{d})p/2} \quad (3.61)$$

since

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{nt-j+1}k^{-d(r)}}{n^{1-d(r)}} \le \frac{1}{1-d(r)} \Big[\frac{nt-j+1}{n}\Big]^{1-d(r)} \le \frac{1}{1-d(r)} \Big[\frac{nt-j+1}{n}\Big]^{1-\bar{d}}$$

for $nu + 1 \le j \le nt$.

The proof of Proposition 3.16 is complete.

We established the convergence of the finite-dimensional distributions and the tightness of the sequence $\{b_n^{-1}\zeta_n\}$. The proof of Theorem 3.5 and Theorem 3.6 is complete.

4 Law of large numbers

Suppose that \mathbb{H} is a separable Hilbert space. We investigate the law of large numbers for an \mathbb{H} -valued linear process $\{X_k\} = \{X_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ defined by

$$X_k = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(\varepsilon_{k-j}) \tag{4.1}$$

for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $\{a_j\} = \{a_j : j \ge 0\}$ are bounded linear operators from \mathbb{H} to \mathbb{H} and $\{\varepsilon_k\} = \{\varepsilon_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and identically distributed \mathbb{H} -valued random elements.

Let us define the normalizing sequence $\{b_n(p)\} = \{b_n(p) : n \ge 1\}$ for $p \ge 1$ before we state our results. For $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, denote

$$\tilde{a}_j = \begin{cases} a_j & \text{if } j \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } j < 0. \end{cases}$$

Then we have that

$$S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n X_k = \sum_{k=1}^n \sum_{j=-\infty}^k a_{k-j}\varepsilon_j = \sum_{k=1}^n \sum_{j=-\infty}^n \tilde{a}_{k-j}\varepsilon_j = \sum_{j=-\infty}^n w_{nj}\varepsilon_j$$

for $n \geq 1$, where

$$w_{nj} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{k-j}$$
(4.2)

for $n \ge 1$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let us observe that sum (4.2) contains at most min $\{n - j + 1, n\}$ non-zero terms for $j \le n$.

Denote

$$b_n(p) = \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^n \|w_{nj}\|^p\right)^{1/p}$$
(4.3)

for $n \ge 1$ and p > 0. We have that

$$b_n(p) = \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^n \|w_{nj}\|^p\right)^{1/p} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left(\sum_{j=-N}^n \left\|\sum_{k=1}^n \tilde{a}_{k-j}\right\|^p\right)^{1/p}$$

and

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left(\sum_{j=-N}^{n} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{k-j} \right\|^{p} \right)^{1/p} \le \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{j=-N}^{n} \|\tilde{a}_{k-j}\|^{p} \right)^{1/p} = n \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_{j}\|^{p} \right)^{1/p}$$

using the triangle inequality for the norm

$$\|\mathbf{K}\| = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d} \|K_i\|^p\right)^{1/p}$$

for $p \ge 1$ and $\mathbf{K} \in L^d(\mathbb{H})$. Hence, $b_n(p)$ is finite for each $n \ge 1$ and each $p \ge 1$ if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\|^p < \infty$.

Now we are ready to state our main results. We begin with the case when $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||$ is finite.

Theorem 4.1. Let $1 . Suppose that <math>\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j|| < \infty$, $x^p \Pr\{||\varepsilon_0|| > x\} \rightarrow 0$ as $x \rightarrow \infty$ and $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{1/p}} \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 4.2. Let $1 . Suppose that <math>\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j|| < \infty$, $E ||\varepsilon_0||^p < \infty$ and $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$. Then

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{1/p}} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$.

Let us turn to the case when $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||$ is not necessarily finite. **Theorem 4.3.** Let $1 . Suppose that <math>\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||^p < \infty$, $x^p \Pr\{||\varepsilon_0|| > x\} \to 0$ as $x \to \infty$ and $\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$. If

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\sup_{j \le n} \|w_{nj}\|}{b_n(p)} = 0,$$

then

$$\frac{S_n}{b_n(p)} \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$.

Since $\sup_{j \leq n} ||w_{nj}|| \leq b_n(q)$ for $q \geq 1$, we have the following corollary of Theorem 4.3.

Corollary 4.1. Let $1 . Suppose that <math>\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||^p < \infty$, $x^p \Pr\{||\varepsilon_0|| > x\} \to 0$ as $x \to \infty$ and $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$. If

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n(q)}{b_n(p)} = 0$$

for some q > p, then

$$\frac{S_n}{b_n(p)} \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 4.4. Let $1 \le p < 2$. Suppose that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||^p < \infty$, $\mathrm{E}[||\varepsilon_0||^p \log(1 + ||\varepsilon_0||)] < \infty$ and $\mathrm{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$. If

$$\frac{b_n(q)}{b_n(p)} = O(n^{1/q - 1/p}) \tag{4.4}$$

as $n \to \infty$ for some $p < q \leq 2$, then

$$\frac{S_n}{b_n(p)} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$.

4.1 Examples

We give two examples of particular operators $\{a_j\}$ and establish asymptotic behaviour of the normalizing sequences $\{b_n(p)\}$ when the series $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||$ diverges. Let us observe that the normalizing sequence $\{b_n(p)\}$ can be expressed explicitly in terms of the operators $\{a_j\}$

$$b_{n}^{p}(p) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{k-j} \right\|^{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{k-j} \right\|^{p} \\ = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k-j} \right\|^{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\| \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} a_{k} \right\|^{p}.$$
(4.5)

Proposition 4.1. Let p > 1 and 1/p < d < 1. Suppose that $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{R}$ and $a_j = (j+1)^{-d}$ for each $j \ge 0$. Then

$$b_n(p) \sim c \cdot n^{1/p+1-d}$$

as $n \to \infty$, where c is a positive constant.

Let us compare our results with the results of Louhichi and Soulier [37] (see Theorem 2.14 in Chapter 2). Suppose that $1 \leq s < \alpha < 2$, $a_j = (j+1)^{-d}$ for each $j \geq 0$ with some 1/s < d < 1, $\mathbf{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $\mathbf{E}[|\varepsilon_0|^p \log(1 + |\varepsilon_0|)] < \infty$ for all $s \leq p < \alpha$. Then it follows from our results (Theorem 4.3 and Proposition 4.1) that

$$\frac{S_n}{n^{1/p+1-1/s}} \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$ for all $p \leq \alpha$ since 1/s < d. The advantage of our result is that we do not need to assume that $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are symmetric α -stable random variables. The advantage of the results of Louhichi and Soulier [37] is that they do not need to assume that $a_j = (j+1)^{-d}$ for each $j \geq 0$, they only need to assume that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^s < \infty$ for some $1 \leq s < \alpha$.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. We have that

$$b_n^p(p) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^0 \left| \sum_{k=1}^n (k-j+1)^{-d} \right|^p + \sum_{j=1}^n \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} (k+1)^{-d} \right|^p$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^\infty \left| \sum_{k=1}^n (k+j)^{-d} \right|^p + \sum_{j=1}^n \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d} \right|^p$$

using expression (4.5).

We obtain that the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n^{1+p(1-d)}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d} \right|^{p} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{l=(j-1)n+1}^{jn} \left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{k}{n} + \frac{l}{n} \right)^{-d} \right|^{p}$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{l=(j-1)n+1}^{jn} \left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{k}{n} + \frac{l}{n} \right)^{-d} \right|^{p}$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{j-1}^{j} \left| \int_{0}^{1} (x+y)^{-d} dx \right|^{p} dy$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \left| \int_{0}^{1} (x+y)^{-d} dx \right|^{p} dy$$
(4.6)

is finite since both of the integrals

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left| \int_{0}^{1} (x+y)^{-d} \mathrm{d}x \right|^{p} \mathrm{d}y \le \left| \int_{0}^{1} x^{-d} \mathrm{d}s \right|^{p}$$

and

$$\int_1^\infty \left| \int_0^1 (x+y)^{-d} \mathrm{d}x \right|^p \mathrm{d}y \le \int_1^\infty y^{-pd} \mathrm{d}y$$

are finite. Also, the limit is positive since integral (4.6) is positive.

By approximating sums with definite integrals, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d} \le \frac{(n-j+1)^{1-d}}{1-d}$$

and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \frac{(n-j+1)^{1-d}}{1-d} \right|^p \le \int_0^n \frac{(n-x+1)^{p(1-d)}}{[1-d]^p} \mathrm{d}x = \frac{(n+1)^{1+p(1-d)}-1}{[1+p(1-d)][1-d]^p}.$$

Hence,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n^{1+p(1-d)}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d} \right|^p < \infty.$$

The proof is complete.

Now we establish asymptotic behaviour of the normalizing sequence $\{b_n(p)\}$ when the operators $\{a_j\}$ are given by (3.2).

Proposition 4.2. Let $\mathbb{H} = L_2(\mu)$ and $\{a_j\}$ defined by

$$a_j = (j+1)^{-D}$$

for each $j \ge 0$, where D is a multiplication operator such that $Df = \{d(s)f(s) : s \in S\}$ for each $f \in L_2(\mu)$ and $d : S \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function. Denote $\underline{d} = \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{s\in S} d(s)$. If $1/p < \underline{d} < 1$, then

$$b_n(p) \sim c \cdot n^{1/p+1-\underline{d}}$$

as $n \to \infty$, where c is a positive constant.

Proof. By equation (4.5), we have that

$$b_n^p(p) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^0 \left\| \sum_{k=1}^n (k-j+1)^{-D} \right\|^p + \sum_{j=1}^n \left\| \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} (k+1)^{-D} \right\|^p$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^\infty \left\| \sum_{k=1}^n (k+j)^{-D} \right\|^p + \sum_{j=1}^n \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-D} \right\|^p.$$

Since

$$\left\|\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-D}\right\| = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{s\in\mathbb{S}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-d(s)}\right] = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (k+j)^{-\underline{d}}$$

and

$$\left\|\sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-D}\right\| = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{s\in\mathbb{S}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-d(s)}\right] = \sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-\underline{d}}$$

(see Conway [9], p. 28), we have that

$$b_n^p(p) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{k=1}^n (k+j)^{-\underline{d}} \right|^p + \sum_{j=1}^n \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n-j+1} k^{-\underline{d}} \right|^p.$$

Hence,

$$b_n(p) \sim c \cdot n^{1/p+1-\underline{d}}$$

using Proposition 4.1, where c is a positive constant. The proof is complete. \Box

It seems that $b_n(p) = O(n^{1/p})$ as $n \to \infty$ if the series $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||$ converges, but we cannot prove this statement for all $p \ge 1$. However, we can prove this statement for p = 2 and $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{R}$.

Lemma 4.1. Suppose that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| < \infty$. Then $b_n(2) = O(n^{1/2})$ as $n \to \infty$, where $b_n(2)$ is given by (4.3).

Proof. Suppose that $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ and $0 < E \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$. Using the stationarity of $\{X_k\}$,

$$E\left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} X_{k}\right|^{2} = n \left[-E X_{0}^{2} + 2 \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) E[X_{0}X_{k}]\right]$$
$$= n E \varepsilon_{0}^{2} \left[-\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_{j}^{2} + 2 \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_{j} a_{j+k}\right]$$

Using the fact that

$$\mathbf{E}\left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} X_{k}\right|^{2} = \mathbf{E}\left|\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} w_{nj}\varepsilon_{j}\right|^{2} = \mathbf{E}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} w_{nj}^{2},$$

we obtain

$$b_n^2(2) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^n w_{nj}^2 = n \bigg[-\sum_{j=0}^\infty a_j^2 + 2\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (1-k/n) \sum_{j=0}^\infty a_j a_{j+k} \bigg].$$

If $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| < \infty$, then $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j a_{j+k}| < \infty$ (see Hamilton [23], p. 70). Also,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (1 - k/n) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j a_{j+k} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j a_{j+k}$$

since any convergent series is Cesàro summable, and the sum of the series agrees with its Cesàro sum. Hence, $b_n(2) = O(n^{1/2})$ as $n \to \infty$.
4.2 Preliminaries

4.2.1 Moments of random elements

For $0 , <math>L_p = L_p(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \Pr; \mathbb{H})$ denotes the space of all \mathbb{H} -valued random elements ξ on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \Pr)$ such that

$$\|\xi\|_p = (\mathbf{E} \|\xi\|^p)^{1/p} < \infty$$

and $L_{p,\infty} = L_{p,\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \operatorname{Pr}; \mathbb{H})$ denotes the space of all \mathbb{H} -valued random variables ξ on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \operatorname{Pr})$ such that

$$\|\xi\|_{p,\infty} = \left(\sup_{x>0} (x^p \Pr\{\|\xi\| > x\})\right)^{1/p} < \infty.$$

The functional $\|\cdot\|_{p,\infty}$ is only a quasi-norm, i.e. it satisfies the norm axioms, except that the triangle inequality is replaced by

$$\|\zeta + \xi\|_{p,\infty} \le \max\{2, 2^{1/p}\} (\|\zeta\|_{p,\infty} + \|\xi\|_{p,\infty})$$
(4.7)

for $\zeta, \xi \in L_{p,\infty}$.

We have, when r > p > 0,

$$\|\xi\|_{p,\infty} \le \|\xi\|_p \le \left(\frac{r}{r-p}\right)^{1/p} \|\xi\|_{r,\infty},$$
(4.8)

hence $L_{r,\infty} \subset L_p \subset L_{p,\infty}$ (actually, if ξ is in L_p , then $\lim_{x\to\infty} x^p \Pr\{\|\xi\| > x\} = 0$). There exists a constant C > 0 with $1 \le p < 2$ such that

$$\left\|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i}\right\|_{p,\infty}^{p} \le C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\xi_{i}\|_{p,\infty}^{p}$$
(4.9)

for independent and symmetric \mathbb{H} -valued random elements $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in L_{p,\infty}$ (see Section 5.6 in Lin and Bai [36] and Proposition 9.13 of Ledoux and Talagrand [35]).

We need an auxiliary lemma.

Lemma 4.2. Let ξ be a non-negative random variable. For any q > 0 and c > 0,

$$\mathbf{E}[\xi^{q}I_{\{\xi \le c\}}] = q \int_{0}^{c} s^{q-1} \Pr\{\xi > s\} \mathrm{d}s - c^{q} \Pr\{\xi > c\}.$$

Similar result to Lemma 4.2 is used in the proof of Feller's weak law of large numbers without a first moment assumption (see Section VII.7 of Feller [17] and Theorem 7.2.1 of Resnick [51] for details).

Proof of Lemma 4.2. We have that

$$E[\xi^{q}I_{\{\xi \le c\}}] = \int_{\{x:x \le c\}} x^{q} dF(x) = \int_{x \le c} \left[\int_{0}^{x} qs^{q-1} ds \right] dF(x)$$
$$= q \int_{0}^{c} s^{q-1} \left[\int_{s < x \le a} dF(x) \right] ds$$
$$= q \int_{0}^{c} s^{q-1} \Pr\{\xi > s\} ds - c^{q} \Pr\{\xi > c\}$$

by applying Fubini's theorem.

4.2.2 Convergence of the series of random elements

We investigate two separate cases: real-valued case and \mathbb{H} -valued case. The realvalued case might be of independent interest since we establish almost sure convergence of series (4.1) under the assumption of finite $\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}$ for all p > 0. Of particular interest is the case when p = 1 and the case when p = 2. The proof of the real-valued case uses the fact that $|a_j\varepsilon_0| = |a_j||\varepsilon_0|$ for each $j \ge 0$, which is not true for general Hilbert spaces, i.e. $\|a_j(\varepsilon_0)\| \neq \|a_j\|\|\varepsilon_0\|$, we only have that $\|a_j(\varepsilon_0)\| \le \|a_j\|\|\varepsilon_0\|$.

Real-valued case

Proposition 4.3. Let p > 0. Suppose that $\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty} < \infty$ and $\mathbb{E}\varepsilon_0 = 0$ if p > 1. Series (4.1) converges almost surely if:

(a)
$$p \neq 1, p \neq 2$$
 and $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^q < \infty$, where $q = \min\{p, 2\}$;

(b)
$$p = 1$$
 and $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \log |a_j|^{-1} < \infty;$

(c)
$$p = 2$$
 and $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 \log |a_j|^{-1} < \infty$.

Proof. We use Kolmogorov's three-series theorem to establish the almost sure convergence. Assume without loss of generality that $a_j \neq 0$ for each $j \geq 0$. We

establish the convergence of the following series:

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_0| > |a_j|^{-1}\};$$
(4.10)

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j \operatorname{E}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}];$$
(4.11)

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 \operatorname{Var}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}].$$
(4.12)

First, we establish convergence of series (4.10). We have that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^p |a_j|^{-p} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_0| > |a_j|^{-1}\} \le \|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^p.$$
(4.13)

Secondly, we investigate the convergence of series (4.11).

Suppose that 0 . Then

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0| I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p \frac{|a_j|^{p-1}}{1-p} = \frac{\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p}{1-p} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^p$$

using Lemma 4.2.

Suppose that p = 1. Then

$$\int_{0}^{|a_{j}|^{-1}} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_{0}| > s\} \mathrm{d}s \le 1 + \|\varepsilon_{0}\|_{1,\infty} \log |a_{j}|^{-1}$$

for $j \ge J$, where $J \ge 0$ is such that $|a_j|^{-1} \ge 1$ when $j \ge J$. By Lemma 4.2,

$$\sum_{j=J}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0| I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \sum_{j=J}^{\infty} |a_j| + \|\varepsilon_0\|_{1,\infty} \sum_{j=J}^{\infty} |a_j| \log |a_j|^{-1}.$$

Suppose that p > 1. We have that

$$\mathbf{E}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] = \mathbf{E}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] - \mathbf{E}\varepsilon_0 = -\mathbf{E}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| > |a_j|^{-1}\}}]$$
(4.14)

and

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}[|\varepsilon_{0}|I_{\{|\varepsilon_{0}|>|a_{j}|^{-1}}] &= \int_{0}^{|a_{j}|^{-1}} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_{0}|I_{\{|\varepsilon_{0}|>|a_{j}|^{-1}\}} > x\} \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{|a_{j}|^{-1}}^{\infty} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_{0}|I_{\{|\varepsilon_{0}|>|a_{j}|^{-1}\}} > x\} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= |a_{j}|^{-1} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_{0}|>|a_{j}|^{-1}\} + \int_{|a_{j}|^{-1}}^{\infty} \Pr\{|\varepsilon_{0}|>x\} \mathrm{d}x \end{split}$$

since $\Pr\{|\varepsilon_0|I_{\{|\varepsilon_0|>|a_j|^{-1}\}}>x\} = \Pr\{|\varepsilon_0|>|a_j|^{-1}\}\$ for $0 \le x \le |a_j|^{-1}$. Hence, $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0|I_{\{|\varepsilon_0|>|a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p \Big[1 + \frac{1}{p-1}\Big] |a_j|^{p-1}$ $= \|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p \Big[1 + \frac{1}{p-1}\Big] \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^p.$

Finally, we complete the proof by establishing the convergence of series (4.12). Suppose that 0 . Then

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0|^2 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 2 \|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p \frac{|a_j|^{p-2}}{2-p} = \frac{2\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p}{2-p} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^p \sum_$$

using Lemma 4.2.

Suppose that p = 2. Then

$$\int_{0}^{|a_{j}|^{-1}} 2s \Pr\{|\varepsilon_{0}| > s\} ds \le 1 + 2\|\varepsilon_{0}\|_{2,\infty}^{2} \log|a_{j}|^{-1}$$

for $j \ge J$, where $J \ge 0$ is such that $|a_j|^{-1} \ge 1$ when $j \ge J$. By Lemma 4.2,

$$\sum_{j=J}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0|^2 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \sum_{j=J}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 + 2\|\varepsilon_0\|_{2,\infty}^2 \sum_{j=J}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 \log |a_j|^{-1}.$$

Suppose that p > 2. Then $\operatorname{Var}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \to \operatorname{Var} \varepsilon_0$ as $j \to \infty$ and the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 \operatorname{Var}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}]$$

converges if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 < \infty$.

Remark 4.1. Suppose that $a_j > 0$ for each $j \ge 0$ and that ε_0 has the density function

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{1}{1+x^2} & \text{if } x \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } x < 0. \end{cases}$$

Then $\varepsilon_0 \in L_{1,\infty}$ and

$$\mathbf{E}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{\varepsilon_0 \le a_j^{-1}\}}] = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{a_j^{-1}} \frac{x}{1+x^2} \mathrm{d}x = \frac{1}{\pi} \log(a_j^{-2} + 1)$$

so that the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[a_j \varepsilon_{k-j} I_{\{|a_j \varepsilon_{k-j}| \le 1\}}]$$

converges if and only if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j \log a_j^{-1} < \infty$ since $\log(a_j^{-2}+1) \sim 2 \log a_j^{-1}$. Hence, the condition in Proposition 4.3 when p = 1 is sharp. Similarly, we can construct an example to show that the condition in Proposition 4.3 when p = 2 is also sharp. **Proposition 4.4.** Suppose that $E |\varepsilon_0|^p < \infty$ for p > 0 and $E \varepsilon_0 = 0$ if $p \ge 1$. Series (4.1) converges almost surely if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|^q < \infty$, where $q = \min\{p, 2\}$.

Proof. We use Proposition 4.3 to establish the almost sure convergence of series (4.1) when $p \neq 1$ and $p \neq 2$ since $L_p \subset L_{p,\infty}$. In order to show that series (4.1) converges when p = 1 and p = 2, we again use Kolmogorov's three-series theorem as in the proof of Proposition 4.3.

The convergence of series (4.10) follows from inequality (4.13) in both cases.

Series (4.11) converges since

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0| I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \operatorname{E} |\varepsilon_0| \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|$$

when p = 1 and, using equation (4.14),

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0| I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| > |a_j|^{-1}\}}] = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0| \frac{|a_j|^{-1}}{|a_j|^{-1}} I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| > |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0^2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2$$

when p = 2.

Series (4.12) converges since

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0|^2 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j| \operatorname{E}[|\varepsilon_0| I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \le \operatorname{E}|\varepsilon_0| \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |a_j|.$$

when p = 1 and $\operatorname{Var}[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{|\varepsilon_0| \le |a_j|^{-1}\}}] \to \operatorname{Var} \varepsilon_0$ as $j \to \infty$ when p = 2.

Remark 4.2. If $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0 \neq 0$ and $a_j \geq 0$ for each $j \geq 0$, then series (4.1) converges if and only if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j < \infty$. If $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$, $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0^2 < \infty$ and $\operatorname{E} \varepsilon_0^2 \neq 0$, then series (4.1) converges if and only if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j^2 < \infty$.

\mathbb{H} -valued case

Proposition 4.5. Suppose that $\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty} < \infty$ for $1 and <math>\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$. Then series (4.1) converges almost surely if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\|^p < \infty$.

Proof. Let N > M and let $\{\tilde{\varepsilon}_j\} = \{\tilde{\varepsilon}_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ be an independent copy of $\{\varepsilon_j\}$ so that $\{\varepsilon_j - \tilde{\varepsilon}_j\} = \{\varepsilon_j - \tilde{\varepsilon}_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and identically distributed symmetric random elements. Then

$$\mathbb{E}\left\|\sum_{j=M+1}^{N} a_{j}(\varepsilon_{k-j})\right\| \leq \mathbb{E}\left\|\sum_{j=M+1}^{N} a_{j}(\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j})\right\|$$

using the fact that $E \tilde{\varepsilon}_0 = 0$.

We obtain that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{j=M+1}^{N} a_{j}(\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\| &\leq \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \left\| \sum_{j=M+1}^{N} a_{j}(\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\|_{p,\infty} \\ &\leq C^{1/p} \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \left(\sum_{j=M+1}^{N} \|a_{j}(\varepsilon_{0} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{0})\|_{p,\infty}^{p} \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq C^{1/p} \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \left(\sum_{j=M+1}^{N} \|\|a_{j}\|(\varepsilon_{0} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{0})\|_{p,\infty}^{p} \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq 4C^{1/p} \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \|\varepsilon_{0}\|_{p,\infty} \left(\sum_{j=M+1}^{N} \|a_{j}\|^{p} \right)^{1/p} \end{split}$$

using the fact that 1 , inequalities (4.8) and (4.9), the inequality

$$\|a_j(\varepsilon_0 - \tilde{\varepsilon}_0)\| \le \|a_j\| \|\varepsilon_0 - \tilde{\varepsilon}_0\|$$

for each $j \ge 0$ and inequality (4.7).

The convergence in mean of series (4.1) implies that it converges in probability and since the random elements $\{\varepsilon_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent for each $k \ge 1$, it also follows that the series converges almost surely (see Theorem 6.1 of Ledoux and Talagrand [35]). The proof is complete. \Box

Using the fact that $L_p \subset L_{p,\infty}$, we obtain the following corollary of Proposition 4.5. **Corollary 4.2.** Suppose that $\|\varepsilon_0\|_p < \infty$ for $1 and <math>\mathbb{E} \varepsilon_0 = 0$. Then series (4.1) converges almost surely if $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\|^p < \infty$.

4.2.3 Symmetrization

Some lemmas and inequalities that we use require symmetric random elements (for example, inequality (4.9) above and Lemma 4.5 below). We need to use symmetrization to establish results for not necessarily symmetric random elements. Suppose that $\{\xi_k\} = \{\xi_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent \mathbb{H} -valued random elements. We construct an associated sequence of independent and symmetric random elements by setting, for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\xi_k - \tilde{\xi}_k$, where $\{\tilde{\xi}_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is an independent copy of a sequence $\{\xi_k\}$. If $\mathbb{E} \xi_0 = 0$, then we have the following inequality

$$E ||\xi_0|| = E ||\xi_0 - E \tilde{\xi}_0|| \le E ||\xi_0 - \tilde{\xi}_0||$$

since $E \tilde{\xi}_0 = 0$. Hence, we can estimate from above the first moment of a not necessarily symmetric random element with the first moment of a symmetrized random element.

The following lemma ensures that we can deduce the strong law of large numbers for not necessarily symmetric random elemnents from the strong law of large numbers for the symmetrized sequence (see Lemma 7.1 of Ledoux and Talagrand [35]). **Lemma 4.3.** Let $\{\xi_n\} = \{\xi_n : n \ge 1\}$ and $\{\xi'_n\} = \{\xi'_n : n \ge 1\}$ be independent sequences of \mathbb{H} -valued random elements such that the sequence $\{\xi_n - \xi'_n\}$ is almost surely convergent to 0 as $n \to \infty$ and $\{\xi_n\}$ is convergent to 0 in probability as $n \to \infty$. Then $\{\xi_n\}$ is almost surely convergent to 0.

So we assume without loss of generality that $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are symmetric random variables in the proofs of Theorem 4.2 and Theorem 4.4.

4.2.4 Auxiliary lemmas

Suppose that \mathbb{E} is a separable Banach space and $\{a_j\} = \{a_j : j \ge 0\}$ are bounded linear operators from \mathbb{E} to \mathbb{E} and suppose that $\{U_{nj}\} = \{U_{nj} : n \ge 1, j \ge 0\}$ are random elements with values in \mathbb{E} .

Lemma 4.4. Suppose that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j|| < \infty$. Then $A = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ is a bounded linear operator from \mathbb{E} to \mathbb{E} . If

$$\sup_{0 \ge 1, j \ge 0} \mathbb{E} \left\| U_{nj} \right\| < \infty,$$

then the series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(U_{nj})$$

converges almost surely for each $n \ge 1$ and if, in addition,

r

$$\|U_{ni} - U_{nj}\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ for each $i \ge 0$ and $j \ge 0$, then

$$\left\|\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(U_{nj}) - A(U_{ni})\right\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ for each $i \ge 0$.

See Račkauskas and Suquet [47], for the proof of Lemma 4.4.

Lemma 4.5. Suppose that $\{\xi_k\} = \{\xi_k : k \ge 1\}$ are independent and symmetric random elements of a separable Banach space \mathbb{E} and $\{b_n\} = \{b_n : n \ge 1\}$ is a sequence of positive numbers. Let $S_k = \sum_{j=1}^k \xi_j$ for each $k \ge 1$. Then

$$\Pr\{\sup_{k \ge n} \|b_k^{-1} S_k\| > \delta\} \le 8 \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_k^{-1} S_k\| > \delta\}$$

for each $n \geq 1$ and for each $\delta > 0$.

The proof of Lemma 4.5 is similar to the part of the proof of Theorem 1.5 of Norvaiša and Račkauskas [44].

Proof. Let $i \ge 1$ be such that $2^{i-1} \le n < 2^i$. We have that

$$\Pr\left\{\sup_{k\geq n} \|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\right\} \leq \Pr\left\{\sup_{k\geq 2^{i-1}} \|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\right\}$$
$$= \Pr\left\{\sup_{j\geq i}\max_{2^{j-1}\leq k<2^{j}} \|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\right\}$$
$$= \Pr\left(\bigcup_{j\geq i}\left\{\max_{2^{j-1}\leq k<2^{j}} \|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\right\}\right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=i}^{\infty}\Pr\left\{\max_{2^{j-1}\leq k<2^{j}} \|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\right\}$$

using the fact that

$$\left\{\sup_{j\geq i}\max_{2^{j-1}\leq k<2^{j}}\|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\|>\delta\right\}=\bigcup_{j\geq i}\left\{\max_{2^{j-1}\leq k<2^{j}}\|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\|>\delta\right\}$$

and subadditivity of the probability measure. By Lévy's inequality (see Kahane [28], p. 14),

$$\Pr\left\{\max_{2^{j-1} \le k < 2^j} \|b_k^{-1} S_k\| > \delta\right\} \le 2\Pr\{\|b_{2^j}^{-1} S_{2^j}\| > \delta\}.$$

We obtain the following inequalities

$$\Pr\left\{\sup_{k\geq n} \|b_k^{-1}S_k\| > \delta\right\} \le 2\sum_{j=i}^{\infty} \Pr\{\|b_{2^j}^{-1}S_{2^j}\| > \delta\}$$

$$= 4 \sum_{j=i}^{\infty} 2^{-j-1} \sum_{k=2^{j}}^{2^{j+1}-1} \Pr\{\|b_{2^{j}}^{-1}S_{2^{j}}\| > \delta\}$$

$$\leq 4 \sum_{j=i}^{\infty} \sum_{k=2^{j}}^{2^{j+1}-1} k^{-1} \Pr\{\max_{2^{j} \le l \le k} \|b_{l}^{-1}S_{l}\| > \delta\}$$

$$\leq 8 \sum_{k=2^{j}}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\}$$

$$\leq 8 \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_{k}^{-1}S_{k}\| > \delta\}.$$

The proof is complete.

Lemma 4.6. Let q > p and c > 0. Then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}} \operatorname{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^q I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| \le ck^{1/p}\}}] \le C \cdot c^{q-p} \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p,$$

The proof of Lemma 4.6 is essentially similar to the proof of Lemma 6.1 of Section 6.6 of Gut [22].

Proof. We have that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}} \operatorname{E}[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{q} I_{\{\|\varepsilon_{0}\| \leq ck^{1/p}\}}] = \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \operatorname{E}[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{q} I_{\{c(l-1)^{1/p} < \|\varepsilon_{0}\| \leq cl^{1/p}\}}] \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=l}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}} \operatorname{E}[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{q} I_{\{c(l-1)^{1/p} < \|\varepsilon_{0}\| \leq cl^{1/p}\}}] \\ &= \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}}\right) \operatorname{E}[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{q} I_{\{\|\varepsilon_{0}\| \leq c\}}] + \sum_{l=2}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=l}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}}\right) \operatorname{E}[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{q} I_{\{c(l-1)^{1/p} < \|\varepsilon_{0}\| \leq cl^{1/p}\}}]. \end{split}$$

We obtain

$$\mathbf{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^q I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| \le c\}}] \le c^{q-p} \mathbf{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^p I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| \le c\}}] \le c^{q-p} \mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{l=2}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=l}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^{q/p}} \right) \mathbf{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^q I_{\{c(l-1)^{1/p} < \|\varepsilon_0\| \le cl^{1/p}\}}] \le \\ &\leq \frac{2^{q/p-1}}{q/p-1} \sum_{l=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{l^{q/p-1}} \mathbf{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^q I_{\{c(l-1)^{1/p} < \|\varepsilon_0\| \le cl^{1/p}\}}] \end{split}$$

where C is a positive constant.

$$\leq \frac{2^{q/p-1}c^{q-p}}{q/p-1} \sum_{l=2}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\|^p I_{\{c(l-1)^{1/p} < \|\varepsilon_0\| \le cl^{1/p}\}}]$$

$$\leq \frac{2^{q/p-1}c^{q-p}}{q/p-1} \mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p.$$

The proof is complete.

4.3 Proofs

We make use of the technique of truncation. Let us introduce several notations. Suppose that $\{r_{nj}\} = \{r_{nj} : n \ge 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are positive real numbers. Denote

$$\mu'_{nj} = \mathbf{E} \big[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{ \| \varepsilon_0 \| \le r_{nj} \}} \big] \quad \text{and} \quad \mu''_{nj} = \mathbf{E} \big[\varepsilon_0 I_{\{ \| \varepsilon_0 \| > r_{nj} \}} \big], \tag{4.15}$$

for $n \ge 1$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Set $\varepsilon_j = \varepsilon'_{nj} + \varepsilon''_{nj}$, where

$$\varepsilon'_{nj} = \varepsilon_j I_{\{\|\varepsilon_j\| \le r_{nj}\}} - \mu'_{nj}$$
 and $\varepsilon''_{nj} = \varepsilon_j I_{\{\|\varepsilon_j\| > r_{nj}\}} - \mu''_{nj}$

so that $\mathbf{E} \, \varepsilon_0 = \mathbf{E} \, \varepsilon'_{nj} = \mathbf{E} \, \varepsilon''_{nj} = 0$ for $n \ge 1$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Denote

$$S'_{n} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} w_{nj} \varepsilon'_{nj} \quad \text{and} \quad S''_{n} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} w_{nj} \varepsilon''_{nj}$$
(4.16)

for $n \geq 1$.

We have that

$$\mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_{nj}'\|^{2} = \mathbf{E} \left[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{2} I_{\{\|\varepsilon_{0}\| \le r_{nj}\}} \right] - \|\mu_{nj}'\|^{2}$$
(4.17)

using the fact that $||x|| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}$ for $x \in \mathbb{H}$ and the fact that the expectation commutes with the bounded operators.

By Lemma 4.2,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|\varepsilon_{0}\|^{q}I_{\{\|\varepsilon_{0}\|\leq r_{nj}\}}\right] \leq \int_{0}^{r_{nj}} qs^{q-1} \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_{0}\| > s\} \mathrm{d}s \leq \frac{q}{q-p} \|\varepsilon_{0}\|_{p,\infty}^{p} \cdot r_{nj}^{q-p} \quad (4.18)$$

for q > p > 0.

4.3.1 Summable linear filter

We have that

$$S_n = \sum_{k=1}^n X_k = \sum_{k=1}^n \sum_{j=0}^\infty a_j(\varepsilon_{k-j}) = \sum_{j=0}^\infty a_j(s_{nj})$$

using additivity of the bounded linear operators $\{a_j\}$, where

$$s_{nj} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{k-j}.$$
(4.19)

Notice that $\{s_{nj} : j \ge 0\}$ are not independent for any n > 1. Denote

$$\mathcal{A} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\|$$

Using the monotone convergence theorem, the inequality $||a_j(s_{nj})|| \leq ||a_j|| ||s_{nj}||$ for each $n \geq 1$ and each $j \geq 0$ and the triangle inequality, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j(s_{nj})\|\right] = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \|a_j(s_{nj})\| \le \mathcal{A} \mathbb{E} \|s_{n0}\| \le \mathcal{A} n \mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|$$

for $n \geq 1$. Hence

$$\mathbf{E}\left\|\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}a_{j}(s_{nj})\right\| = \lim_{m \to \infty}\mathbf{E}\left\|\sum_{j=0}^{m}a_{j}(s_{nj})\right\|$$
(4.20)

using the dominated convergence theorem.

Using (4.20), the triangle inequality, Hölder's inequality and the von Bahr-Esseen inequality (see von Bahr and Esseen [56]), we obtain

$$E ||S_n|| \le \mathcal{A} E ||s_{n0}|| \le \mathcal{A} (E ||s_{n0}||^p)^{1/p} \le 2^{1/p} \mathcal{A} (E ||\varepsilon_0||^p)^{1/p} \cdot n^{1/p}$$
(4.21)

for $1 \le p \le 2$. If p = 2, $2^{1/p} = 2^{1/2}$ can by replaced by 1 in inequality (4.21).

Weak law of large numbers

We have that

$$\Pr\{\|n^{-1/p}S_n\| > \delta\} \le \Pr\{\|n^{-1/p}S_n'\| > \delta/2\} + \Pr\{\|n^{-1/p}S_n''\| > \delta/2\}$$
(4.22)

for each $\delta > 0$.

Lemma 4.7. Suppose that $x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > x\} \to 0$ as $x \to \infty$ for some p > 1 and $r_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$, where $r_n = \inf_{j \le n} r_{nj}$. Then

$$\sup_{j \le n} \|\varepsilon_{nj}''\|_{p,\infty} \to 0 \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$

Proof. Denote

$$M_n'' = \mathbf{E}[\|\varepsilon_0\| I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > r_n\}}]$$

and observe that

$$\|\mu_{nj}''\| \le \mathbf{E} \left[\|\varepsilon_0\| I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > r_{nj}\}} \right] \le M_n'' \tag{4.23}$$

since $r_{nj} \ge r_n$.

Using triangle inequality and inequality (4.23),

$$\sup_{j \le n} \|\varepsilon_{nj}''\|_{p,\infty}^p = \sup_{j \le n} \sup_{x > 0} (x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0 I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > r_{nj}\}} - \mu_{nj}''\| > x\})$$

$$\leq \sup_{j \le n} \sup_{x > 0} (x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > r_{nj}\}} + \|\mu_{nj}''\| > x\})$$

$$\leq \sup_{x > 0} (x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > r_n\}} > x - M_n''\}).$$

Observe that

$$\Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\|I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\|>r_n\}} > x - M_n''\} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } 0 < x < M_n'', \\ \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\|>r_n\}, & \text{if } M_n'' \le x \le M_n'' + r_n, \\ \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\|>x\}, & \text{if } x > M_n'' + r_n. \end{cases}$$

We obtain

$$\sup_{x>0} (x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| \|I_{\{\|\varepsilon_0\|>r_n\}} > x - M''_n\}) \le \\ \le \max\{(M''_n)^p, (M''_n + r_n)^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > r_n\}, \sup_{x>M''_n + r_n} (x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > x\})\} \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$ since $x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > x\} \to 0$ as $x \to \infty$ and $r_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$, so that $\lim_{n\to\infty} M''_n = 0$. The proof is complete.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. For $j \ge 0, n \ge 1$ and $\tau > 0$, set

$$r_{nj} = \left[\tau^2 \cdot \left(\frac{\delta}{2\mathcal{A}}\right)^2 \cdot \frac{2-p}{2\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p}\right]^{\frac{1}{2-p}} n^{1/p}.$$

Using Markov's inequality, inequalities (4.21), (4.17) and (4.18),

$$\Pr\{\|n^{-1/p}S'_n\| > \delta/2\} \le \frac{2}{\delta} \frac{\mathbb{E}\|S'_n\|}{n^{1/p}} \le \frac{2}{\delta} \mathcal{A} \frac{(\mathbb{E}\|\varepsilon'_{n0}\|^2)^{1/2}}{n^{1/p-1/2}} \le \tau.$$

Hence, the first term on the right side of (4.22) goes to 0 as $n \to \infty$ for each $\delta > 0$.

Let $\{\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'': n \geq 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ be an idependent copy of $\{\varepsilon_{nj}'': n \geq 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ so that $\{\varepsilon_{nj}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'': n \geq 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and symmetric \mathbb{H} -valued random elements. Let us observe that

$$\mathbf{E} \|s_{n0}''\| = \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{nk}'' \right\| = \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{nk}'' - \mathbf{E} \,\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nk}'') \right\| \le \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{nk}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{nk}'') \right\|$$
(4.24)

since $\mathrm{E}\,\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}^{\prime\prime}=0$ for each $n\geq 1$ and for each $j\in\mathbb{Z}$.

Using Markov's inequality, inequalities (4.21), (4.24), (4.8), (4.9) and (4.7), we obtain the following inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} \Pr\{\|n^{-1/p}S_n''\| > \delta/2\} &\leq \frac{2}{\delta}n^{-1/p} \operatorname{E}\|S_n''\| \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\delta}\mathcal{A}n^{-1/p} \operatorname{E}\|s_{n0}''\| \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\delta}\mathcal{A}n^{-1/p} \operatorname{E}\left\|\sum_{k=1}^n (\varepsilon_{nk}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{nk}'')\right\| \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\delta}\mathcal{A}n^{-1/p} \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right) \left\|\sum_{k=1}^n (\varepsilon_{nk}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{nk}'')\right\|_{p,\infty} \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\delta}\mathcal{A}n^{-1/p} \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right) C^{1/p} \left(\sum_{k=1}^n \|\varepsilon_{n0}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{n0}''\|_{p,\infty}^p\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \frac{8}{\delta}\mathcal{A}\left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right) C^{1/p} \|\varepsilon_{n0}''\|_{p,\infty} \end{aligned}$$

 $\|\varepsilon_{n0}''\|_{p,\infty} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty \text{ using Lemma 4.7 since } x^p \Pr\{|\varepsilon_0| > x\} \to 0 \text{ as } x \to \infty$ and $r_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. The proof is complete.

Theorem 4.1 can also be proved using Lemma 4.4.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. Set

$$U_{nj} = n^{-1/p} s_{nj},$$

where $\{s_{nj}\} = \{s_{nj} : n \ge 1, j \ge 0\}$ is defined by (4.19) for each $n \ge 1$ and $j \ge 0$. First, we have that

$$\sup_{n\geq 1,j\geq 0} \mathbb{E} \left\| n^{-1/p} s_{nj} \right\| \leq \sup_{n\geq 1,j\geq 0} \mathbb{E} \left\| n^{-1/p} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\|$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \sup_{n\geq 1,j\geq 0} \left\| n^{-1/p} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\|_{p,\infty}$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \sup_{n\geq 1,j\geq 0} \left(n^{-1} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\|_{p,\infty}^{p} \right)^{1/p}$$

$$\leq 4 \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right) C^{1/p} \|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}$$

using inequalities (4.8) and (4.9) since p > 1, where $\{\tilde{\varepsilon}_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is an idependent copy of $\{\varepsilon_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ so that $\{\varepsilon_k - \tilde{\varepsilon}_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and identically distributed symmetric \mathbb{H} -valued random elements such that

$$\mathbf{E} \|s_{nj}\| = \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{k-j} \right\| = \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{k-j} - \mathbf{E} \,\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\| \le \mathbf{E} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\varepsilon_{k-j} - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k-j}) \right\|$$

since $\mathrm{E}\,\tilde{\varepsilon}_k = 0$ for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Secondly,

$$||U_{ni} - U_{nj}|| = ||n^{-1/p}s_{ni} - n^{-1/p}s_{nj}|| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ for each $i \ge 0$ and for each $j \ge 0$ using the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund weak law of large numbers.

Finally, we have that

$$\left\|\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(n^{-1/p} s_{nj}) - A(n^{-1/p} s_{n0})\right\| = \|n^{-1/p} S_n - A(n^{-1/p} s_{n0})\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ using Lemma 4.4. Hence, $n^{-1/p}S_n \to 0$ in probability as $n \to \infty$ and the proof is complete.

Srong law of large numbers

Proof of Theorem 4.2. The proof is based on Lemma 4.4 and the fact that

$$n^{-1/p}S_n \to 0$$

almost surely as $n \to \infty$ if and only if

$$\sup_{k \ge n} \|k^{-1/p} S_k\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$.

Let $c_0(\mathbb{H})$ be a separable Banach space of \mathbb{H} -valued sequences that converge to 0 with the norm given by

$$\|x\| = \sup_{n \ge 1} \|x_n\|$$

for each $x \in c_0(\mathbb{H})$.

Let $\{u_j\} = \{u_j : j \ge 0\}$ be bounded linear operators from $c_0(\mathbb{H})$ to $c_0(\mathbb{H})$ defined by

$$u_j(x) = \{a_j x_k : k \ge 1\}$$

for each $x \in c_0(\mathbb{H})$, where $\{a_j\} = \{a_j : j \ge 0\}$ are bounded linear operators from \mathbb{H} to \mathbb{H} . Then we have that

$$||u_j|| = \sup_{||x|| \le 1} ||u_j(x)|| = \sup_{||x|| \le 1} \sup_{n \ge 1} ||a_j x_n|| \le \sup_{||x|| \le 1} \sup_{n \ge 1} ||a_j|| ||x_n|| = ||a_j||.$$

Hence, $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|u_j\| < \infty$ since $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|a_j\| < \infty$.

 Set

$$U_{nj} = \{0, \dots, 0, n^{-1/p} s_{nj}, (n+1)^{-1/p} s_{(n+1)j}, \dots\}$$

for each $n \geq 1$ and for each $j \geq 0$. Since $n^{1/p}s_{nj} \to 0$ almost surely as $n \to \infty$ for each $j \geq 0$ using the Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund strong law of large numbers, we have that U_{nj} almost surely belongs to $c_0(\mathbb{H})$ for each $n \geq 1$ and $j \geq 0$.

Now we show that $\sup_{n\geq 1,j\geq 0} \mathbb{E} \|U_{nj}\|$ is finite.

Lemma 4.8. If $E || \varepsilon_0 ||^p < \infty$ for some p > 1, then

$$\sup_{n\geq 1,j\geq 0} \mathbf{E} \left\| U_{nj} \right\| < \infty.$$

Proof. We will use the inequality

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \Pr\{\|\xi\| \ge i^{1/r}\} \le \mathbf{E} \, \|\xi\|^r \le \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \Pr\{\|\xi\| > i^{1/r}\},\tag{4.25}$$

where ξ is a random element and r > 0 (see Chow and Teicher [8], p. 90).

Using Lemma 4.5,

$$\Pr\left\{\sup_{k\geq n} \|k^{-1/p} s_{kj}\| > i\right\} \le 8 \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|k^{-1/p} s_{kj}\| > i\}$$

for each $n \ge 1$ and $i \ge 1$.

Set $r_{kj} = ik^{1/p}$ for each $k \ge 1$, each $j \ge 0$ and each $i \ge 1$. Using the truncated Chebyshev inequality (see Gut [22], p. 121), we obtain

$$\Pr\{\|k^{-1/p}s_{kj}\| > i\} \le k \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > ik^{1/p}\} + i^{-2}k^{1-2/p} \mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_{k0}'\|^2.$$

We have that

$$\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > ik^{1/p}\} \le \mathbf{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p \cdot i^{-p}$$

and

$$i^{-2}\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} k^{-2/p} \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon_{k0}'\|^2 \le C \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p \cdot i^{-p}$$

using Lemma 4.6, where C is a positive constant.

Thus

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \Pr\left\{ \sup_{k \ge n} \|k^{-1/p} s_{kj}\| > i \right\} &\leq 8 \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|k^{-1/p} s_{kj}\| > i\} \\ &\leq 8 \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} [\Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > ik^{1/p}\} + i^{-2}k^{-2/p} \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon_{k0}'\|^2] \\ &\leq 8(1+C) \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} i^{-p} \end{split}$$

and

$$\sup_{n \ge 1, j \ge 0} \mathbb{E} \| U_{nj} \| = \sup_{n \ge 1, j \ge 0} \mathbb{E} \sup_{k \ge n} \| k^{-1/p} s_{kj} \| < \infty$$

since p > 1 and $\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_0\|^p < \infty$. The proof is complete.

We also have that

$$\|U_{ni} - U_{nj}\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ for each $i \ge 0$ and each $j \ge 0$ since

$$\sup_{k \ge n} \|k^{-1/p} s_{kj}\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ as a consequence of the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund strong law of large numbers. Hence, Lemma 4.4 implies that

$$\left\|\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} u_j(U_{nj}) - \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} u_j(U_{n0})\right\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ and it follows using the reverse triangle inequality that

$$\left\|\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} u_j(U_{nj})\right\| = \sup_{k \ge n} \|k^{-1/p} S_k\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$. The proof of Theorem 4.2 is complete.

4.3.2 Non-summable linear filter

Weak law of large numbers

We have that

$$\Pr\{\|b_n^{-1}(p)S_n\| > \delta\} \le \Pr\{\|b_n^{-1}(p)S_n'\| > \delta/2\} + \Pr\{\|b_n^{-1}(p)S_n''\| > \delta/2\} \quad (4.26)$$

for each $\delta > 0$.

Proposition 4.6. Let $1 . If <math>x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > x\} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} r_n = \infty$, where $r_n = \inf_{j\leq n} r_{nj}$, then

$$b_n^{-1}(p)S_n'' \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$, where $b_n(p)$ is given by (4.3) and S''_n is given by (4.16).

Proof. Let $\delta > 0$. For N < n, we have that

$$\Pr\{\|b_{n}^{-1}(p)S_{n}''\| > \delta/2\} \le \Pr\left\{\left\|b_{n}^{-1}(p)\sum_{j=-\infty}^{N} w_{nj}\varepsilon_{j}''\right\| > \delta/4\right\} + \Pr\left\{\left\|b_{n}^{-1}(p)\sum_{j=N+1}^{n} w_{nj}\varepsilon_{j}''\right\| > \delta/4\right\}.$$
 (4.27)

The series $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{n} w_{nj} \varepsilon_j''$ converges almost surely for each $n \ge 1$. Therefore

$$b_n^{-1}(p) \sum_{j=-\infty}^N w_{nj} \varepsilon_j'' \to 0$$

almost surely as $N \to -\infty$ for each $n \ge 1$, so that there exists N(n) < n for each $n \ge 1$ and each $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\left\|b_n^{-1}(p)\sum_{j=-\infty}^{N(n)} w_{nj}\varepsilon_j''\right\| \le \delta/4$$

almost surely and the first term on the right side of (4.27) is 0.

Let $\{\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'': n \ge 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ be an idependent copy of $\{\varepsilon_{nj}'': n \ge 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ so that $\{\varepsilon_{jj}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{jj}'': n \ge 1, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are independent and symmetric random variables.

Using Markov's inequality and the fact that $\mathbf{E}\,\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}''=0$ for each $n\geq 1$ and each $j\in\mathbb{Z}$, we obtain

$$\Pr\left\{\left\|b_{n}^{-1}(p)\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n}w_{nj}\varepsilon_{j}''\right\| > \delta/4\right\} < \frac{4}{\delta}\operatorname{E}\left\|b_{n}^{-1}(p)\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n}w_{nj}(\varepsilon_{j}''-\operatorname{E}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'')\right\|$$
$$\leq \frac{4}{\delta}\operatorname{E}\left\|b_{n}^{-1}(p)\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n}w_{nj}(\varepsilon_{j}''-\tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'')\right\|$$

By inequalities (4.8), (4.9) and (4.7),

$$\Pr\left\{ \left\| b_{n}^{-1}(p) \sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n} w_{nj} \varepsilon_{nj}'' \right\| > \delta/2 \right\} \leq \\ \leq \frac{4}{\delta} \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \left\| b_{n}^{-1}(p) \sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n} w_{nj} (\varepsilon_{nj}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'') \right\|_{p,\infty} \\ \leq \frac{4C^{1/p}}{\delta} \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \cdot b_{n}^{-1}(p) \left(\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n} \| w_{nj} (\varepsilon_{nj}'' - \tilde{\varepsilon}_{nj}'') \|_{p,\infty}^{p} \right)^{1/p} \\ \leq \frac{16C^{1/p}}{\delta} \left(\frac{p}{p-1} \right) \cdot b_{n}^{-1}(p) \left(\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n} \| w_{nj} \|^{p} \| \varepsilon_{nj}'' \|_{p,\infty}^{p} \right)^{1/p}.$$

Since

$$\left(\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n} \|w_{nj}\|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \le b_{n}(p),$$

we have that

$$\Pr\left\{\left\|b_{n}^{-1}\sum_{j=N(n)+1}^{n}w_{nj}\varepsilon_{nj}''\right\| > \delta/2\right\} \le \frac{16C^{1/p}}{\delta} \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right) \left(\sup_{j\le n} \|\varepsilon_{nj}''\|_{p,\infty}^{p}\right)^{1/p}.$$

$$\begin{split} \sup_{j \leq n} \|\varepsilon_{nj}''\|_{p,\infty} &\to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty \text{ using Lemma 4.7 since } x^p \Pr\{\|\varepsilon_0\| > x\} \to 0 \text{ as } \\ x \to \infty \text{ and } r_n \to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty. \text{ The proof is complete.} \end{split}$$

Proof of Theorem 4.3. For $\tau > 0$, set

$$r_{nj} = \left[\frac{\tau\delta^2(2-p)}{8\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p}\right]^{\frac{1}{2-p}} \cdot \frac{b_n(p)}{\|w_{nj}\|}.$$

Using Chebyshev's inequality, (4.17) and (4.18), we obtain

$$\Pr\{\|b_n^{-1}(p)S'_n\| > \delta/2\} \le \frac{4}{\delta^2} b_n^{-2}(p) \sum_{j=-\infty}^n \|w_{nj}\|^2 \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon'_{nj}\|^2 \le \tau.$$

Hence, the first term on the right side of (4.26) goes to 0 as $n \to \infty$ for each $\delta > 0$.

By Proposition 4.6, the second term on the right side of (4.26) goes to 0 as $n \to \infty$ for each $\delta > 0$ since

$$r_n = \left[\frac{\tau \delta^2(2-p)}{8\|\varepsilon_0\|_{p,\infty}^p}\right]^{\frac{1}{2-p}} \cdot \frac{b_n(p)}{\sup_{j \le n} \|w_{nj}\|} \to \infty \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$

The proof is complete.

Strong law of large numbers

Proof of Theorem 4.4. Assume without loss of generality that $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are symmetric random elements. We use the fact that random elements $b_n^{-1}(p)S_n$ converge to 0 almost surely as $n \to \infty$ if and only if

$$\sup_{k \ge n} \|b_k^{-1}(p)S_k\| \to 0$$

in probability as $n \to \infty$ (see §10 of Chapter II of Shiryaev [54] for the proof).

Set $r_{nj} = n^{1/p}$ for each $n \ge 1$ and each $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. μ'_{n0} and μ''_{n0} given by (4.15) are both equal to 0 for each $n \ge 1$ since $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ are assumed to be symmetric.

We have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_k^{-1}(p)S_k\| > \delta\} \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_k^{-1}(p)S_k'\| > \delta/2\} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_k^{-1}(p)S_k''\| > \delta/2\}$$

$$(4.28)$$

for each $\delta > 0$.

Using Markov's inequality, the von Bahr-Esseen inequality and (4.4), we obtain

$$\sum_{k=N}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_k^{-1}(p)S_k'\| > \delta/2\} \le \frac{2^{q+1}}{\delta^q} \sum_{k=N}^{\infty} k^{-1} \left(\frac{b_k(q)}{b_k(p)}\right)^q \mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_{k0}'\|^q \le M \frac{2^{q+1}}{\delta^q} \sum_{k=N}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbb{E} \|\varepsilon_{k0}'\|^q}{k^{q/p}}$$
(4.29)

for $N \ge 1$ such that

$$\frac{b_k(q)}{b_k(p)} \le M k^{1/q - 1/p}$$

for $k \ge N$, where M is a positive constant. We use Lemma 4.6 to show that series (4.29) converges. Hence, the first series on the right side of (4.28) converges.

F	-	-	
L			
L			
		-	

Using Markov's inequality and the von Bahr-Esseen inequality, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \Pr\{\|b_k^{-1}(p)S_k''\| > \delta/2\} \le \frac{2^{p+1}}{\delta^p} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \operatorname{E} \|\varepsilon_{k0}''\|^p$$

and

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \mathbf{E} \| \varepsilon_{k0}^{\prime\prime} \|^{p} &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-1} \sum_{l=k}^{\infty} \mathbf{E} [\| \varepsilon_{0} \|^{p} I_{\{l^{1/p} < \| \varepsilon_{0} \| \le (l+1)^{1/p}\}}] \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{l} k^{-1} \mathbf{E} [\| \varepsilon_{0} \|^{p} I_{\{l^{1/p} < \| \varepsilon_{0} \| \le (l+1)^{1/p}\}}] \\ &\leq \mathbf{E} \| \varepsilon_{0} \|^{p} + \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \log l \mathbf{E} [\| \varepsilon_{0} \|^{p} I_{\{l^{1/p} < \| \varepsilon_{0} \| \le (l+1)^{1/p}\}}] \\ &\leq \mathbf{E} \| \varepsilon_{0} \|^{p} + p \mathbf{E} [\| \varepsilon_{0} \|^{p} \log \| \varepsilon_{0} \| I_{\{\| \varepsilon_{0} \| > 1\}}]. \end{split}$$

The second series on the right side of (4.28) also converges. The proof is complete.

5 Conclusions

The constructed example of a linear process $\{X_k\}$ with the divergent series of the operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ shows that such models might not only be interesting theoretically but also useful in the functional data analysis as a sequence of random functions with space varying memory.

The main novelty of the central limit theorem for the $L_2(\mu)$ -valued linear process $\{X_k\}$ with the operators $\{a_j\}$ given by (3.2) is that the normalising sequence is not a sequence of real numbers but a sequence of multiplication operators. So when the series of the operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ diverges, we might need a different type of normalisation for the central limit theorem for the linear process with values in the separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} .

The established functional central limit theorem shows that if we do not assume that the operator D commutes with the covariance operator of ε_0 , we obtain a different Gaussian random process than the operator fractional Q-Brownian motion defined in Račkauskas and Suquet [48]. Thus the assumption of commutativity in Račkauskas and Suquet [48] is essential.

The normalising sequence in the functional central limit is also a sequence of multiplication operators and the limit process generates an operator self-similar process.

The established sufficient conditions for the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type weak and strong laws of large numbers are similar to Theorem 2.1 proven by Ibragimov and Linnik [27] in the case of the central limit theorem: we establish sufficient conditions for the Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund type weak and strong laws of large numbers for an abstract linear process with values in the separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} and the normalising sequence $\{b_n(p) : n \geq 1\}$ with 1 just under the $assumption of the convergece of <math>\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ||a_j||^p$.

If the series of the operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ converges, we show that the Marcinkiewicz-

Zygmund type weak and strong laws of large numbers for a linear process with values in the space \mathbb{H} hold with the standard normalising sequence $\{n^{1/p} : n \geq 1\}$. If the series of operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ converges, the linear process have the same asymptotic behaviour as a sequence of independent and identically distributed random elements. However, if the series of operator norms of $\{a_j\}$ fails to converge, the normalising sequence might grow faster than $\{n^{1/p} : n \geq 1\}$ as we illustrate with an example in Section 4.1. We do not make assumptions about particular distribution of $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ so in this sense we generalise the results of Louhichi and Soulier [37].

Bibliography

- Jan Beran. Statistics for Long-Memory Processes. Monographs on Statistics and Applied Probability. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 1994. ISBN 0412049015.
- Jan Beran, Sucharita Ghosh, Yuanhua Feng, and Rafal Kulik. Long-Memory Processes: Probabilistic Properties and Statistical Methods. Springer, 2013. ISBN 3642355127.
- [3] Patrick Billinglsey. Convergence of Probability Measures. Wiley, 1968.
- [4] Denis Bosq. Linear Processes in Function Spaces: Theory and Applications, volume 149 of Lecture Notes in Statistics. Springer, 2000.
- [5] Peter J. Brockwell and Richard A. Davis. *Time Series: Theory and Meth-ods*. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer, second edition, 1991. ISBN 1441903194.
- [6] Vaidotas Characiejus and Alfredas Račkauskas. The central limit theorem for a sequence of random processes with space-varying long memory. *Lithuanian Mathematical Journal*, 53(2):149–160, April 2013.
- [7] Vaidotas Characiejus and Alfredas Račkauskas. Operator self-similar processes and functional central limit theorems. *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, 124(8):2605–2627, August 2014.
- [8] Yuan Shih Chow and Henry Teicher. Probability Theory: Independence, Interchangeability, Martingales. Springer Texts in Statistics. Springer, third edition, 1997. ISBN 0387406077.
- [9] John B. Conway. A Course in Functional Analysis. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, second edition, 1990. ISBN 0387972455.
- [10] D. R. Cox. Long-range dependence: A review. In H. A. David and H. T.

David, editors, *Statistics: An Appraisal. Proceedings 50th Anniversary Conference*, pages 55–74. The Iowa State University Press, 1984.

- [11] Heinz Cremers and Dieter Kadelka. On weak convergence of stochastic processes with Lusin path spaces. manuscripta mathematica, 45(2):115–125, June 1984.
- [12] Heinz Cremers and Dieter Kadelka. On weak convergence of integral functionals of stochastic processes with applications to processes taking paths in L^E_n. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 21(2):305–317, 1986.
- [13] Yu. A. Davydov. The invariance principle for stationary processes. Theory of Probability & Its Applications, 15(3):487–498, 1970.
- [14] Gustavo Didier and Vladas Pipiras. Integral representations and properties of operator fractional Brownian motions. *Bernoulli*, 17(1):1–33, February 2011.
- [15] T. E. Duncan, B. Pasik-Duncan, and B. Maslowski. Fractional Brownian motion and stochastic equations in Hilbert spaces. *Stochastics and Dynamics*, 2(2):225–250, June 2002.
- [16] Paul Embrechts and Makoto Maejima. Selfsimilar Processes. Princeton Series in Applied Mathematics. Princeton University Press, 2002. ISBN 0691096279.
- [17] William Feller. An Introduction to Probability Theory and Its Applications, volume 2. Wiley, second edition, 1971. ISBN 0471257095.
- [18] Evarist Giné and José R. León. On the central limit theorem in Hilbert space. Stochastica, IV(1):43–71, 1980.
- [19] Liudas Giraitis, Hira L. Koul, and Donatas Surgailis. Large Sample Inference for Long Memory Processes. Imperial College Press, 2012. ISBN 1848162782.
- [20] C. W. J. Granger and Roselyne Joyeux. An introduction to long-memory time series models and fractional differencing. *Journal of Time Series Analysis*, 1 (1):15–29, 1980.

- [21] Dominique Guégan. How can we define the concept of long memory? an econometric survey. *Econometric Reviews*, 24(2):113–149, 2005.
- [22] Allan Gut. Probability: A Graduate Course. Springer Texts in Statistics. Springer, second edition, 2013. ISBN 1461447078.
- [23] James Douglas Hamilton. *Time Series Analysis*. Princeton University Press, 1994. ISBN 0691042896.
- [24] Lajos Horváth and Piotr Kokoszka. Inference for Functional Data with Applications. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer, 2012. ISBN 1461436546.
- [25] J. R. M. Hosking. Fractional differencing. *Biometrika*, 68(1):165–176, 1981.
- [26] William N. Hudson and J. David Mason. Operator-self-similar processes in a finite-dimensional space. *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, 273(1):281–297, September 1982.
- [27] I. A. Ibragimov and Yu. V. Linnik. Independent and stationary sequences of random variables. Series of Monographs and Textbooks on Pure and Applied Mathematics. Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen, 1971. ISBN 9001418856.
- [28] Jean-Pierre Kahane. Some Random Series of Functions. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, second edition, 1985. ISBN 0521456029.
- [29] Olav Kallenberg. Foundations of Modern Probability. Probability and Its Applications. Springer, 1997. ISBN 0387949577.
- [30] Andrey Nikolaevich Kolmogorov. Wienersche Spiralen und einige andere interessante Kurven im Hilbertschen Raum. C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.), 26:115–118, 1940.
- [31] Takis Konstantopoulos and Alexander Sakhanenko. Convergence and convergence rate to fractional Brownian motion for weighted random sums. *Siberian Electronic Mathematical Reports*, 1:47–63, October 2004.
- [32] R. G. Laha and V. K. Rohatgi. Operator self similar stochastic processes in R^d. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 12(1):73–84, October 1981.

- [33] John Lamperti. Semi-stable stochastic processes. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 104(1):62–78, July 1962.
- [34] Frédéric Lavancier, Anne Philippe, and Donatas Surgailis. Covariance function of vector self-similar processes. *Statistics & Probability Letters*, 79(23): 2415–2421, December 2009.
- [35] Michel Ledoux and Michel Talagrand. Probability in Banach Spaces. Springer, 1991. ISBN 3540520139.
- [36] Zhengyan Lin and Zhidong Bai. Probability Inequalities. Springer, 2010. ISBN 3642052606.
- [37] Sana Louhichi and Philippe Soulier. Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund strong laws for infinite variance time series. *Statistical Inference for Stochastic Processes*, 3 (1-2):31–40, 2000.
- [38] Makoto Maejima and J. David Mason. Operator-self-similar stable processes. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 54(1):139–163, November 1994.
- [39] Benoît B. Mandelbrot and John W. Van Ness. Fractional Brownian motions, fractional noises and applications. SIAM Review, 10(4):422–437, October 1968.
- [40] André Mas and Besnik Pumo. Linear processes for functional data. arXiv: 0901.2503v1 [math.ST], January 2009.
- [41] Mihaela T. Matache and Valentin Matache. Operator self-similar processes on Banach spaces. Journal of Applied Mathematics and Stochastic Analysis, 2006:1–18, 2006. Article ID 82838.
- [42] Florance Merlevède, Magda Peligrad, and Sergey Utev. Sharp conditions for the CLT of linear processes in a Hilbert space. Journal of Theoretical Probability, 10(3):681–693, July 1997.
- [43] Florance Merlevède, Magda Peligrad, and Sergey Utev. Recent advances in invariance principles for stationary sequences. *Probability Surveys*, 3:1–36, 2006.

- [44] Rimas Norvaiša and Alfredas Račkauskas. Law of large numbers with respect to a quasinorm. I. Lithuanian Mathematical Journal, 24(2):149–159, 1984.
- [45] Wilfredo Palma. Long-Memory Time Series: Theory and Methods. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics. Wiley-Interscience, 2007. ISBN 0470114029.
- [46] Peter C. B. Phillips and Victor Solo. Asymptotics for linear processes. The Annals of Statistics, 20(2):971–1001, June 1992.
- [47] Alfredas Račkauskas and Charles Suquet. On limit theorems for Banachspace-valued linear processes. *Lithuanian Mathematical Journal*, 50(1):71–87, January 2010.
- [48] Alfredas Račkauskas and Charles Suquet. Operator fractional Brownian motion as limit of polygonal line processes in Hilbert space. Stochastics and Dynamics, 11(1):49–70, March 2011.
- [49] J.O. Ramsay and B.W. Silverman. Functional Data Analysis. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer, second edition, 2005. ISBN 1441923004.
- [50] Sidney I. Resnick. Adventures in Stochastic Processes. Birkhäuser, 1992. ISBN 0817635912.
- [51] Sidney I. Resnick. A Probability Path. Birkhäuser, 1999. ISBN 081764055X.
- [52] Gennady Samorodnitsky. Long range dependence. Foundations and Trends[®] in Stochastic Systems, 1(3):163–257, 2007.
- [53] Gennady Samorodnitsky and Murad S. Taqqu. Stable Non-Gaussian Random Processes: Stochastic Models with Infinite Variance. Stochastic Modeling. Chapman & Hall/CRC, 1994. ISBN 0412051710.
- [54] Albert N. Shiryaev. Probability. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, second edition, 1995. ISBN 0387945490.
- [55] Nguyen Van Thu. Banach space valued brownian motions. Acta Mathematica Vietnamica, 3(2):35–46, 1978.
- [56] Bengt von Bahr and Carl-Gustav Esseen. Inequalities for the rth absolute

moment of a sum of random variables, $1 \le r \le 2$. Annals of Mathematical Statistics, 36(1):299–303, 1965.

[57] Qiying Wang, Yan-Xia Lin, and Chandra M. Gulati. The invariance principle for linear processes with applications. *Econometric Theory*, 18(1):119–139, February 2002.